

## Conversion of Carbon Monoxide to Chemicals Using Microbial Consortia

One-Carbon Feedstocks for Sustainable Bioproduction Parera Olm, Ivette; Sousa, Diana Z. https://doi.org/10.1007/10\_2021\_180

This publication is made publicly available in the institutional repository of Wageningen University and Research, under the terms of article 25fa of the Dutch Copyright Act, also known as the Amendment Taverne. This has been done with explicit consent by the author.

Article 25fa states that the author of a short scientific work funded either wholly or partially by Dutch public funds is entitled to make that work publicly available for no consideration following a reasonable period of time after the work was first published, provided that clear reference is made to the source of the first publication of the work.

This publication is distributed under The Association of Universities in the Netherlands (VSNU) 'Article 25fa implementation' project. In this project research outputs of researchers employed by Dutch Universities that comply with the legal requirements of Article 25fa of the Dutch Copyright Act are distributed online and free of cost or other barriers in institutional repositories. Research outputs are distributed six months after their first online publication in the original published version and with proper attribution to the source of the original publication.

You are permitted to download and use the publication for personal purposes. All rights remain with the author(s) and / or copyright owner(s) of this work. Any use of the publication or parts of it other than authorised under article 25fa of the Dutch Copyright act is prohibited. Wageningen University & Research and the author(s) of this publication shall not be held responsible or liable for any damages resulting from your (re)use of this publication.

For questions regarding the public availability of this publication please contact openscience.library@wur.nl

# **Conversion of Carbon Monoxide** to Chemicals Using Microbial Consortia



Ivette Parera Olm and Diana Z. Sousa

#### Contents

1	Introduction	374
	1.1 Syngas Fermentation for a Circular Economy	374
	1.2 Microbes Using Carbon Monoxide for Growth	375
	1.3 The Microbial Consortia Approach for Syngas Fermentation	376
2	CO Conversion by Open Mixed Cultures	378
	2.1 Anaerobic Sludges as Biocatalysts for Syngas Fermentation	378
	2.2 Syngas Biomethanation	384
	2.3 Production of Ethanol	386
	2.4 Production of Carboxylic Acids and Higher Alcohols	387
3	CO Conversion by Synthetic Co-cultures	389
	3.1 Synthetic Co-cultures: A Win-Win	389
	3.2 Production of Methane	390
	3.3 Production of Carboxylic Acids and Alcohols	393
	3.4 Production of Other Value-Added Chemicals	394
4	CO Conversion via Sequential Processes	395
5	Challenges and Opportunities of Syngas-Fermenting Microbial Communities	396
6	Conclusion	398
Re	eferences	398

Abstract Syngas, a gaseous mixture of CO,  $H_2$  and CO<sub>2</sub>, can be produced by gasification of carbon-containing materials, including organic waste materials or lignocellulosic biomass. The conversion of bio-based syngas to chemicals is foreseen as an important process in circular bioeconomy. Carbon monoxide is also produced as a waste gas in many industrial sectors (e.g., chemical, energy, steel). Often, the purity level of bio-based syngas and waste gases is low and/or the ratios of syngas components are not adequate for chemical conversion (e.g., by

Laboratory of Microbiology, Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen, The Netherlands

e-mail: ivette.pareraolm@wur.nl; diana.sousa@wur.nl

I. Parera Olm and D. Z. Sousa (🖂)

Fischer-Tropsch). Microbes are robust catalysts to transform impure syngas into a broad spectrum of products. Fermentation of CO-rich waste gases to ethanol has reached commercial scale (by axenic cultures of *Clostridium* species), but production of other chemical building blocks is underexplored. Currently, genetic engineering of carboxydotrophic acetogens is applied to increase the portfolio of products from syngas/CO, but the limited energy metabolism of these microbes limits product yields and applications (for example, only products requiring low levels of ATP for synthesis can be produced). An alternative approach is to explore microbial consortia, including open mixed cultures and synthetic co-cultures, to create a metabolic network based on CO conversion that can yield products such as medium-chain carboxylic acids, higher alcohols and other added-value chemicals.

#### **Graphical Abstract**



**Keywords** Acetogens, C1 feedstocks, Cross-feeding, Gas fermentation, Microbial consortia, Microbial interactions, Syngas

#### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Syngas Fermentation for a Circular Economy

As the worldwide population grows and the consumption of fossil resources increases, there is the need to develop new technologies to produce commodity chemicals from renewable resources. By 2050, chemicals may no longer be synthesised from fossil fuels, according to targets established after the Paris agreement and the European Green Deal [1, 2]. Lignocellulosic biomass and wastes (agricultural, industrial and municipal) have been identified as priority feedstocks for a bio-based industry [3, 4]. These are inedible materials, and their use does not compete with human or animal nutrition or with the utilisation of arable land, therefore circumventing ethical concerns. Wastes in particular are heavily underutilised materials, especially in developing countries [5]. The conversion of biomass and wastes through hydrolysis-fermentation is very attractive, but bottlenecks of the process are the low biodegradability of lignin (which represents 10–25% of plant

biomass) and the costly pre-treatment steps [6, 7]. An alternative that gets increasing attention is the gasification of biomass and wastes followed by the chemical or biological conversion of the generated synthesis gas (also known as syngas) [8, 9]. Syngas is a gas mixture of mainly carbon monoxide (CO), hydrogen  $(H_2)$ and carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  that can be generated from solid carbonaceous feedstocks (e.g., coal, lignocellulosic biomass) and carbon-containing wastes (e.g., agricultural waste). Chemical conversion of syngas by, e.g., Fischer-Tropsch (FT) process is a mature technology used for the conversion of mainly coal-generated syngas into hydrocarbons, alcohols and organic acids [10]. FT processes use metal catalysts under high temperature and pressures and require high H<sub>2</sub>:CO molar ratios. Chemical catalysts are highly sensitive to syngas impurities such as ammonia [11], sulphur species [12], alkali ions [13] or water [11], which makes them less suitable for the treatment of biomass/waste-generated syngas. Gas clean-up treatments can reduce the concentration of most impurities, but complete removal is hindered by the cost of these technologies and the inherent variability of the feedstock [14]. Biological conversion of syngas involves its fermentation by microorganisms, which are in general more resistant to impurities in the gas and, in addition, do not require a fix  $H_2$ :CO molar ratio [8, 15–17]. The biological route operates under mild temperature and pressure conditions, and overall has higher mass and energy conversion efficiencies compared to chemical catalysis [9, 18]. Furthermore, microbial processes result in higher product selectivity with the formation of fewer by-products. Syngas fermentation technology can also be applied for the treatment of CO-containing waste gases from heavy industry such as steelmaking. Often, CO-rich off-gases gases from steel mills are burned leading to CO<sub>2</sub> emissions; in 2019, on average 1.83 tonnes of  $CO_2$  were emitted per every ton of steel produced [19], contributing to approximately 8% of global emissions. This is a serious environmental problem with impact on climate change. Other opportunities are emerging to use gas fermentation technology associated to CO<sub>2</sub> capture technology. For example, the production of CO by electrochemical reduction of  $CO_2$  has been proved feasible and with high Faraday efficiencies (>80%) [20–22].

#### 1.2 Microbes Using Carbon Monoxide for Growth

Microbes have exploited CO as sustenance for much of their evolutionary history. Proof of that are the different ways in which CO may be involved in microbial metabolism, which makes it necessary to define some terms. Microorganisms that can use CO as carbon and energy source are denominated *carboxydotrophs*, to be distinguished from *carboxydovores*, which may use electrons from CO but require organic carbon for growth [23]. At the same time, CO metabolism can take two forms: respiratory and fermentative [24]. The former relies either on  $O_2$  (aerobic) or other external electron acceptors (anaerobic). In this review, the focus is on the latter: fermentative CO metabolism, which is, by definition, anaerobic. Microorganisms that ferment CO are carboxydotrophic. Therefore, the term *carboxydotroph* is used

in this text to refer to the ability to use CO anaerobically but, in another context, it may refer to both aerobic and anaerobic microorganisms.

The fermentation of CO/syngas is carried out by acetogens, a specialised group of anaerobic bacteria able to use CO and H<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub> as sole carbon and energy sources via the reductive acetyl-CoA pathway, also known as the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway (WLP) [8]. Acetogenesis is not a phylogenetic trait; it is widely represented in at least 23 bacterial genera [25, 26]. Most known acetogens belong to the genera Clostridium and Acetobacterium, within the Clostridia class. The WLP results in acetyl-CoA as end-product of CO and H<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub> fermentation. Since autotrophy via the WLP is energetically limited, most acetyl-CoA is directed towards acetate production to generate ATP. Thus, the majority of acetogens produce acetic acid as sole metabolic end-product. Some microorganisms can derive other chemicals from acetyl-CoA as intermediate. For example, *Clostridium autoethanogenum*, Clostridium ljungdahlii, Clostridium ragsdalei and Alkalibaculum bacchi are able to produce ethanol; C. autoethanogenum, C. ljungdahlii and C. ragsdalei can also produce 2,3-butanediol (2,3-BDO); Eubacterium limosum and Butyribacterium methylotrophicum are able to produce butyrate; and Clostridium carboxidivorans can produce butyrate, butanol, caproate and hexanol [27].

The key enzyme of CO oxidation to  $CO_2$ , carbon monoxide dehydrogenase, is present in other anaerobic microorganisms that harbour variations of the WLP. Besides acetogenic bacteria, CO can be used as electron donor and/or carbon source by some methanogenic archaea and sulphate-reducing bacteria [28]. However, compared to acetogens, methanogens and sulphate-reducing bacteria are more sensitive to elevated levels of CO.

Syngas fermentation processes can be implemented with pure cultures of acetogens or with microbial communities. This chapter focuses on the latter: undefined and defined consortia of microorganisms that convert syngas to biochemicals of interest. For an overview of monoculture-based processes, we refer to recent reviews [17, 29, 30].

## 1.3 The Microbial Consortia Approach for Syngas Fermentation

The fermentation of syngas has been most studied and implemented in industry using pure cultures of acetogens [8, 16]. From a process perspective, monocultures are easy to control and predict, since optimal conditions for growth are well-defined. Process conditions can be tuned to target a product of interest with high selectivity and yields. As an example, the highest ethanol concentration (48 g L<sup>-1</sup>) and volumetric productivity (369 g L<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) from syngas were achieved with pure cultures of *C. ljungdahlii* [31, 32]. However, a major limitation of the use of monocultures for syngas conversion is the energetic constraint in the formation of products other than acetate and ethanol [33]. Genetic and metabolic engineering

of Clostridia strains has advanced remarkably in the last decade, paving the way towards the expression of heterologous products and enhanced yields [34, 35]. For instance, industrially relevant titres have recently been achieved for acetone, iso-propanol and 2,3-BDO [36]. Yet, important hurdles remain to be addressed in genetic engineering of Clostridia to further expand the product portfolio of syngas fermentation, such as low DNA transformation efficiencies, insufficient high-throughput recombineering tools and, in general, the need for a better understanding of acetogenic platforms at the molecular level [37]. Another disadvantage of monoculture-based strategies is the lack of robustness against process fluctuations. This is of particular relevance in the case of syngas fermentation, since the gas composition varies depending on the source or gasification method [38]. Mixed cultures are less affected than monocultures of carboxydotrophs by changes in the syngas composition [39], and are also expected to be more robust against syngas impurities (e.g., nitrogen oxides, tars), which have been shown to inhibit cell growth or interfere with product distribution in monocultures of acetogens [40].

Microbial consortia are emerging as a promising strategy aimed at overcoming the limitations of monocultures and taking syngas fermentation a step forward [30, 41, 42]. In nature, microbes rarely thrive alone; instead, cooperation and communication with other microorganisms are extremely important for survival [43, 44]. Communities can perform complicated functions that individual populations cannot, for instance the production of energy-demanding products. Compared to monocultures, microbial consortia can convert much more complex substrates and have better robustness, both because of a highly diverse community structure and a capacity to evolve. The capabilities of microbial consortia have long been exploited in bioremediation, wastewater treatment and the production of fermented foods [45]. In the last decade, advances in -omics approaches and a greater understanding of microbial interactions have driven forward the fields of microbiome engineering and synthetic ecology, aimed at unlocking the full potential of microbial communities for biotechnological applications [46–50].

The use of microbial consortia in syngas fermentation has specific advantages. For one thing, communities composed of multiple carboxydotrophic microbes with different CO tolerance can handle syngas streams with variable composition. This functional redundancy may enhance gas consumption and mitigate the detrimental effect of syngas contaminants on individual populations. Moreover, provided that carboxydotrophic populations keep CO levels low, CO-sensitive microbes can thrive in an environment that would otherwise be hostile. In addition, the co-culture capabilities can be extended by syntrophic interactions between species in the consortia, such as cross-feeding of intermediates (e.g., acetate, ethanol) or exchange of essential nutrients (e.g., amino acids, vitamins). An example of this is the co-culture of Citrobacter amalonaticus Y19 and the acetogen Sporomusa ovata. The latter has been reported to produce acetate from CO, but at rather low rates [51, 52]. On the other hand, C. amalonaticus Y19 is unable to use autotrophic substrates but it can oxidise CO to  $H_2$  and  $CO_2$  [53], which may be used as substrates by the acetogen. A study found that co-cultures of S. ovata and C. amalonaticus Y19 produced almost double the amount of acetate than monocultures of S. ovata, from the same amount of CO [52]. In addition, growth of both microorganisms and CO consumption was higher in the co-culture than in monocultures. This example is just one of many that demonstrate the relevance of mutualistic interactions in microbial consortia [42, 54]. There are, on the other hand, potential downsides when using consortia of microorganisms compared to monocultures. Some examples are the occurrence of competing or inhibiting pathways, the generation of side products that reduce product selectivity or incompatible cultivation conditions (i.e., pH, temperature, etc.) between species in the community. These issues can be tackled through rational microbial consortia engineering, multi-species metabolic modelling and bioreactor/bioprocess design [47, 55, 56].

Two types of microbial consortia can be distinguished: open mixed cultures (also referred to as 'open cultures', 'mixed cultures' or 'microbiomes') and synthetic co-cultures (Fig. 1). The former consist of self-assembled, highly diverse microbial communities naturally occurring in defined habitats, in which the populations are mostly unspecified. Synthetic co-cultures are consortia of specified microbial strains that engage in interaction under aseptic and controlled conditions. Most synthetic co-cultures reported in literature are composed of two or three microbial species, with a few including up to five [57].

The following sections summarise the main developments regarding the implementation of open mixed cultures (Sect. 2) and synthetic co-cultures (Sect. 3) in syngas fermentation processes.

## 2 CO Conversion by Open Mixed Cultures

### 2.1 Anaerobic Sludges as Biocatalysts for Syngas Fermentation

The main components of syngas (CO,  $H_2$  and  $CO_2$ ) can sustain anaerobic growth of a number of microbial groups: acetogens and hydrogenogenic bacteria, carboxydotrophic and hydrogenotrophic methanogens and sulphate-reducing microorganisms [24]. In turn, the products of CO/syngas fermentation (mainly  $H_2$ , CO<sub>2</sub>, acetate and ethanol) can support growth of acetoclastic methanogens, chainelongating bacteria, ethanol oxidisers, syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria and propionibacteria, among others [16, 58]. The range of final products that can be obtained via syngas fermentation by open mixed cultures (in the absence of external electron acceptors) therefore includes short- and medium-chain carboxylic acids, simple and higher alcohols and methane. When sulphate is available and sulphatereducing microorganisms are present, sulphide is also produced. An overview of some of the works on syngas/CO conversion by mixed cultures is shown in Table 1.

Open mixed cultures for syngas fermentation are based on inocula from anaerobic natural or engineered environments that harbour a high microbial diversity. Typical inocula include anaerobic digester sludges [66, 70–76], wastewater treatment



**Fig. 1** Overview of the types of microbial communities that can be applied in syngas fermentation to produce biochemicals. Syngas (CO,  $H_2$  and CO<sub>2</sub>) can be obtained via the gasification of organic wastes or lignocellulosic residues. Off-gases from the steel and iron industries are also sources of CO-rich gas. Open mixed cultures (from, e.g., sludges) enriched in carboxydotrophic, methanogenic and/or Clostridia species can be used to produce methane, alcohols or medium-chain carboxylic acids from syngas. Alternatively, synthetic co-cultures can be used, composed of non-engineered microorganisms alone or in combination with genetically engineered platform organisms such as *Escherichia coli*. The latter option allows to expand the range of products that can be obtained from syngas to compounds of added-value, such as 3-hydroxypropionic acid or itaconic acid. Acronym: GM, genetically modified

	0					
				Syngas composition	Product titre/	
Cultivation system	$T(^{\circ}C)$	μd	Enriched microbial taxa (relative abundance)	(% v/v)	productivity	Reference
TBR (lab-scale)	60	7	Biofilm: Methanothermobacter (30%), Therminicola (16%), Coprothermobacter (23%) Liquid: undefined (30%), Therminicola (23%), Methanothermobacter (15%)	CO/H <sub>2</sub> /CO <sub>2</sub> /N <sub>2</sub> (20:45:25:10)	Methane 8.49 mmol $L_{bed}^{-1}$ h <sup>-1</sup>	Asimakopoulos et al. [59]
TBR (7.5L)	60	7	Derived from Asimakopoulos et al. [59]	CO/H <sub>2</sub> /CO <sub>2</sub> /N <sub>2</sub> (20:45:25:10)	Methane 17.6 mmol $L_{bed}^{-1}$ h <sup>-1</sup>	Asimakopoulos et al. [60, 61]
TBR coupled to FBG	60	7	Derived from Asimakopoulos et al. [59]	CO/H <sub>2</sub> /CO2/N <sub>2</sub> (11:35:44:10)	Methane 14.4 mmol L <sub>bed</sub> <sup>-1</sup> h <sup>-1</sup>	Asimakopoulos et al. [60, 61]
Floating MBR	55	8.2	N.A.	CO/H <sub>2</sub> /CO <sub>2</sub> (55: 20:10)	Methane 1.43 mmol L <sup>-1</sup> h <sup>-1</sup>	Chandolias et al. [62]
MOBB	35-37	5.8-6.7	N.A.	CO/H <sub>2</sub> /CO <sub>2</sub> (60: 30:10)	Methane $3.04 \text{ mmol } \text{L}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$	[63]
HfMBR	55	6.5	Biofilm: Thermoanaerobacterium (92.8%)	CO/H <sub>2</sub> (40:60)	Acetate 24.6 g $L^{-1}$ 16.4 g $L^{-1}$ day <sup>-1</sup>	Shen et al. [64]
HfMBR	35	9	Biofilm: Clostridium (41.6%), undefined (42%)	CO/H <sub>2</sub> (40:60)	Butyrate 1.4 g $L^{-1}$ Caproate 0.88 g $L^{-1}$ Caprylate 0.53 g $L^{-1}$	Shen et al. [64]
Column reactor filled with porous pad	35	7 to 5.8–6.5 <sup>a</sup>	Acinetobacter, Alcaligenes, Rhodobacter, Methanobacterium, Methanoseaeta	CO/N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) <sup>b</sup>	Caproate 0.22 g $L^{-1}$ Heptanoate 0.21 g $L^{-1}$ Caprylate 0.15 g $L^{-1}$	He et al. [65]
HfMBR	35	4.5	Biofilm: Clostridium (86.3%)	CO/H <sub>2</sub> (60:40)	Ethanol 16.9 g $L^{-1}$	Wang et al. [66–68]
CSTR with cell-recycle	37	7	A. bacchi (56%), A. propionicum (34%), Clos- tridium sp. (10%)	CO/H <sub>2</sub> /N <sub>2</sub> (28: 60:12)	Ethanol 8 g $L^{-1}$ ; Propanol 6 g $L^{-1}$ Butanol 1 g $L^{-1}$	Liu et al. [69]

Table 1 Overview of syngas fermentation processes using open mixed cultures

STR	37	7-4.3 <sup>a</sup>	N.A.	CO/H <sub>2</sub> /CO <sub>2</sub> /N <sub>2</sub> (32:32:8:28)	Butyrate 2.17 g $L^{-1}$ Butanol 0.43 g $L^{-1}$	Ganigué et al. [70]
STR	37	6-4.8 <sup>a</sup>	C. Ijungdahlii, C. carboxidivorans, C. kluyveri	CO/H <sub>2</sub> /CO <sub>2</sub> /N <sub>2</sub> (32:32:8:28)	Butanol 1.1 g $L^{-1}$ Hexanol 0.6 g $L^{-1}$	Ganigué et al. [71]
STR	33	4.9	N.A.	CO (100)	Ethanol 11.1 g $L^{-1}$ Butanol 1.8 g $L^{-1}$ Hexanol 1.5 g $L^{-1}$	Chakraborty et al. [72]

TBR trickle-bed reactor, FBG fluidised bed gasifier, MBR membrane bioreactor, MOBB multi-orifice baffled bioreactor, HfMBR hollow-fibre membrane bioreactor, STR stirred-tank reactor (batch), N.A. not available data

<sup>a</sup>The pH was initially set and not controlled afterwards <sup>b</sup>Percentage at the end of the process, with an inflow syngas composition of 60 kPa CO and N<sub>2</sub> as make-up gas, assuming a total pressure of 101 kPa

granules [76, 77] and faeces of herbivores [78–82]. Sludges from anaerobic digesters employed in traditional wastewater treatment processes have been proposed as most suitable syngas biocatalysts [73, 76, 77]. These cultures have a high adaptation capacity, essential to treat a vast range of organic and inorganic substrates. Most importantly for syngas fermentation, the ability to oxidise CO seems to be a ubiquitous property across anaerobic sludges [76].

An acclimation period is generally required to obtain a microbiome capable of efficiently converting CO. The inoculum largely determines the duration of this acclimation period, which can be as short as a few days [76, 77, 79, 81] or weeks [67, 71, 76], and in some cases lasts several months [65, 73, 75]. Because different microbes have different optimal conditions for growth, the outcome of the process depends not only on the inoculum source but also on the environmental conditions applied to enrich and maintain the culture. Acetogenic bacteria are more tolerant to CO than other microorganisms present in anaerobic sludges, therefore dominating enriched cultures exposed to moderate or high levels of CO [64, 66, 67, 75, 83-85]. For example, during the CO-enrichment process of an anaerobic sludge, the relative abundance of members from the Clostridiales order, which includes many acetogenic species, increased from 5% in the inoculum to 66-95% in enriched cultures (pCO = 20-61 kPa) [75]. Similarly, a recent study showed that mixed cultures exposed to high pCO (96 kPa) were dominated by members of the Firmicutes phylum, to which many acetogens belong, while low pCO (35 kPa) shifted the community towards Proteobacteria, a phylum that includes hydrogenogenic carboxydotrophs [83]. Methanogens, on the other hand, are generally inhibited at moderate CO pressures starting from 30 to 80 kPa [73, 75, 77]. In a recent study, Duan et al. [83] revealed the crucial role of under-characterised taxa in CO-enriched communities. Authors identified novel bacterial genera and species which may participate in CO oxidation to end-products and maintain fundamental metabolism (e.g., citric cycle, amino acid biosynthesis), extending the functional redundancy of the communities and overall increasing their stability. Besides CO, the presence of other gases in the mixture has an impact on the performance of syngas-converting communities. With few exceptions, pure cultures of carboxydotrophs can rarely consume H<sub>2</sub> and CO simultaneously, since almost all hydrogenases are inhibited by CO [86-91]. In contrast, mixed cultures can metabolise H<sub>2</sub> along with CO, since H<sub>2</sub> can be used by hydrogenotrophic microorganisms that might be present in the community [39]. Overall, the addition of  $CO_2$ and H<sub>2</sub> has been shown to increase the microbial diversity of CO-enriched cultures and promote a higher acetate/ethanol ratio [39, 75].

Temperature and pH are two operational parameters with a major influence on the evolution of CO enrichments. Grimalt-Alemany et al. [92] showed that mesophilic syngas-enrichments (37°C) are characterised by a higher microbial diversity and a more intricate metabolic network compared to thermophilic syngas-enrichments (60°C). Another finding of that study was that the maximum specific growth rates of microbes were significantly higher (twofold) in thermophilic conditions. Similar

findings were reported by Alves et al. [73], who observed a rapid decrease in microbial diversity in long-term CO/syngas enrichments of anaerobic sludges at 55°C. The pH is perhaps the most crucial parameter determining the structure and product composition of syngas-converting communities. Several authors have emphasised its critical effect on the regulation between acetogenesis and solventogenesis, requiring a tight control of acidic conditions [71, 72, 84, 85], while, for methanogenesis, neutral or slightly alkaline conditions are required [84, 85].

Finally, the addition of medium supplements (e.g., yeast extract, reducing agents) and inhibitors of specific types of metabolism is also common practice to alter the structure of microbial communities and stimulate the production of target products [72, 92, 93]. In this regard, the addition of methanogenic inhibitors is an extended practice in syngas fermentation processes using open mixed cultures to supress methane production. Inocula from anaerobic sludges are likely to harbour an active methanogenic population. This can be a hurdle when products other than methane are targeted. Three approaches are commonly used to inhibit methane production by open mixed cultures used in bioprocesses, namely (1) operation under (mildly) acidic conditions [94, 95], (2) heat-shock treatment of the inoculum [95, 96], and (3) the addition of methanogenic inhibitors such as 2-bromoethanesulphonate (2-BES) [70, 71, 95, 97, 98]. The latter, in concentrations ranging 10-50 mM, has proven very efficient and is therefore a popular choice; however, it can certainly contribute to increasing process costs at industrial scale since periodical addition is necessary in continuous operation. Moreover, 2-BES can lose efficacy during longterm operation [65] and can be metabolised by dehalogenating and sulphatereducing bacteria present in microbial communities [95, 99]. Eventually, moderate to high concentrations of CO should inhibit most methanogenic activity and avoid the addition of specific inhibitors.

One of the big advantages of using open cultures in bioprocesses is that these do not require operation under aseptic conditions. In addition, long-term reproducibility of mixed cultures can be ensured by using suitable cryopreservation methods [100]. On the other hand, these systems are highly dependent on microbial interactions, which are very difficult to predict and, to a great extent, unknown. Other drawbacks are the long times required to achieve steady-state conditions and the challenging product recovery due to the presence of many by-products at low concentrations. Large-scale continuous processes using open mixed cultures are well-established in industry (e.g., in wastewater treatment and food fermentation), but not yet applied for syngas fermentation. Decades of research have shed light on the structure of anaerobic sludges, their governing microbial interactions and the influence of operational parameters, although mainly in the context of conversion of organic compounds [68, 101–103]. However, developments in the last decade are driving forward the syngas fermentation platform for mixed cultures at a rapid pace. The next sections relate these advances, centred on the production of methane, carboxylic acids and alcohols.

### 2.2 Syngas Biomethanation

Conversion of CO-rich waste gases by open mixed cultures is a popular method to produce methane [84, 85, 104]. Traditional wastewater treatment processes rely on microbial communities that perform methanogenesis as ultimate step of anaerobic digestion. These cultures are suited to produce methane from syngas, provided they have or acquire a sufficient carboxydotrophic potential [77]. Biomethanation of syngas presents several advantages over its analogous catalytic process [84, 85, 105]. Microbes are less sensitive than metal catalysts to impurities and to the ratio C/H in syngas. Biocatalysts are cheap, self-replicating, and can yield high methane contents in a single step. Using microbes, higher methane selectivity can be obtained, in contrast to the use of metal catalysts that result in the production of higher hydrocarbons as by-products. However, production rates of biomethanation are lower compared to the chemical process. Recent years have witnessed increased efforts to improve the efficiency of syngas biomethanation; these include the development of novel reactor configurations, insights on the impact of operational parameters and improved knowledge on the microbial community structure and interactions [84, 85].

Methanogenesis from CO can take place via three routes: (1) direct conversion by carboxydotrophic methanogens, (2) via acetate as intermediate by acetoclastic methanogens, and (3) via H<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub> as intermediates by hydrogenotrophic methanogens. Direct methanation of CO is rather infrequent due to complete inactivation of methanogens in the presence of moderate concentrations of CO [76, 77]. Four methanogenic species have been demonstrated to use CO for growth: Methanothermobacter thermautotrophicus [106], Methanosarcina barkeri [107], Methanosarcina acetivorans [108, 109], and Methanobacter marburgensis [110]. However, all of them require rather long periods of adaptation to CO and growth is significantly slower than on their typical substrates. Consequently, CO conversion to methane in microbial communities is highly dependent on bacterialarchaeal interactions. Several studies have demonstrated the preferential use of certain pathways in anaerobic sludges used for syngas biomethanation. In this regard, the incubation temperature plays a determining role. Experiments with vancomycin, an inhibitor of acetogenic activity, have shown that, under mesophilic conditions, methanogenesis occurs primarily via acetate as intermediate [74, 93]. Mesophilic conditions are favourable to acetogenic bacteria, which provide acetate to acetoclastic methanogens; in contrast, higher temperatures generally shift the microbial community towards H<sub>2</sub>-producing carboxydotrophs, which favour the hydrogenotrophic methanogenic route [76, 77, 92]. In both environments, when the  $H_2$  pressure is kept sufficiently low, acetate can be converted to  $H_2/CO_2$  by syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria, which can compete with acetoclastic methanogens and create a niche for hydrogenotrophic methanogens [78, 93]. The effect of temperature on the microbial composition of communities performing syngas biomethanation extends to the process performance. Several studies have reported the positive impact of thermophilic over mesophilic conditions on conversion rates [59, 61, 76, 77, 92]. For example, Grimalt-Alemany et al. [92] observed an 18-fold higher methane productivity from enrichments incubated at 60°C compared to enrichments incubated at 37°C. Thermophilic conditions are therefore the preferred mode of operation for syngas biomethanation processes [84, 85].

Two other operational conditions, the pH and the pCO, also influence the performance of methanogenic communities using syngas. Since most methanogens grow optimally around neutrality, syngas biomethanation processes are generally operated at pH values between 7 and 7.6 [84, 85]. Carboxydotrophic bacteria can also proliferate in this pH range [27], thus providing intermediates for methanogenesis. The effect of CO levels has been extensively studied. Alves et al. [73] reported no methane production in thermophilic enrichments from anaerobic sludge incubated with solely CO as substrate (35 kPa). Methane was detected in enrichments incubated with  $CO/H_2/CO_2$  (pCO = 18 kPa), but production ceased in subsequent transfers. Instead, both syngas- and CO-enriched cultures produced acetate. Elimination of methanogens in the enrichments could be due to the low growth rate of methanogens or their higher susceptibility to CO [77, 109, 110]. Similarly, Luo et al. [111] reported 50% lower methanogenic activity by an anaerobic sewage sludge exposed to a pCO of 51 kPa, compared to the control in the absence of CO. These observations are in line with those of Guiot et al. [77], who reported inhibition of methanogenesis in enriched granular sludge at pCO between 30 and 83 kPa. Nevertheless, some archaeal genus, such as Methanobacterium, have been shown to tolerate CO levels up to 96 kPa in microbial communities [83]. In addition, strategies are in place to enhance CO utilisation by methanogenic cultures. For instance, a system with gas recirculation enabled a CO conversion efficiency of 75% and a methane yield of 95% under a pCO of 60 kPa [77]. In some cases, an acclimation phase has enabled methane production by anaerobic sludges exposed to 100 kPa CO [93, 112].

Syngas biomethanation has been investigated in a variety of process configurations with the aim to improve gas-to-liquid transfer and cell concentrations. Besides the use of traditional stirred-tank reactors (CSTRs), tested designs include bubble columns, gas-lift reactors, trickle-bed reactors (TBRs) and multi-orifice baffled bioreactors (MOBBs) [84, 85]. The most promising results so far have been obtained with the use of TBRs. Recently, Asimakopoulos et al. [59] reported a CH<sub>4</sub> productivity from syngas of 8.49 mmol· $L_{bed}^{-1}$ ·h<sup>-1</sup> in a lab-scale TBR operated in continuous mode at 60°C. The inoculum used was an enriched mixture of two anaerobic sludges, intended to increase microbial diversity. Interestingly, the methanogenic population was more abundant in the biofilm of the TBR, while carboxydotrophic bacteria were mostly found in the liquid phase. In a follow-up study, the process was scaled up; a 7.5 L TBR, that used the same enrichment and syngas mixture and was operated in the same conditions as the lab-scale reactor, achieved a maximum  $CH_4$ productivity of 17.6 mmol  $L_{bed}^{-1}$  h<sup>-1</sup>, the highest reported so far for syngas biomethanation [60]. At this rate,  $H_2$  and CO conversion efficiencies were 97% and 76%, respectively, and CH<sub>4</sub> selectivity was 99%. The higher performance of the scaled-up system was attributed to an improved gas-liquid mass transfer due to a

more efficient sparging component and a much higher height/diameter ratio, in addition to a more accurate pH control. To further test the process, the TBR was coupled to a gasifier that generated syngas from wood pellets; the generated gas contained 11–27% CO and was fed into the reactor at atmospheric pressure. The microbial consortium produced CH<sub>4</sub> at a maximum rate of 14.4 mmol· $L_{bed}^{-1}$  h<sup>-1</sup> without any inhibitory effects [60]. Few other studies have demonstrated continuous operation of bioreactors for syngas biomethanation by open cultures with syngas  $(CO/H_2/CO_2)$  as sole substrate [60, 84, 85]. Pereira [63] studied syngas conversion to methane by a mesophilic sludge in a 10.6 L MOBB operated in continuous mode. The system produced  $CH_4$  at a maximum rate of 73 mmol  $L^{-1}$  day<sup>-1</sup> with negligible amounts of by-products in the liquid and a Y<sub>CH4/CO</sub> of 0.6–0.8 (mol/mol), higher than reported in similar works [84, 85]. Yet, the conversion efficiency eventually dropped due to the prolonged high flow rates applied [63]. In a recent study, Chandolias et al. [62] tested a novel configuration consisting of a floating membrane in a membrane bioreactor and achieved a maximum CH<sub>4</sub> productivity of 34 mmol  $L^{-1}$  day<sup>-1</sup>, in this case, using a thermophilic digester sludge.

Overall,  $CH_4$  productivity in syngas biomethanation processes is very dependent on the process configuration and specific process conditions, which affect gas-toliquid mass transfer and cell concentrations. Considerable progress over the last years and successful examples of scale-up cases such as that of Asimakopoulos et al. [60] offer good perspectives for syngas biomethanation in the future. A key aspect to bring this technology to commercial application will be to ensure its economic feasibility by, e.g., combining syngas biomethanation with existing gasification plants and improving reactor design to increase productivities [84, 85].

#### 2.3 Production of Ethanol

Ethanol is undoubtedly the most common target product of syngas fermentation due to its commercial use as biofuel [16, 104, 113]. Despite high productivities have been achieved with pure cultures of acetogens, the robustness of open mixed culture operation has driven an interest for its production in these systems. Singla et al. [80] were the first to demonstrate ethanol production by microbial communities using syngas. In their study, a mesophilic enriched consortium obtained from faeces produced up to 2.2 g  $L^{-1}$  ethanol in semi-continuous mode (adding fresh syngas to serum bottles every 24 h). Liu et al. [69] tested continuous fermentation of syngas to ethanol by mixed culture in a CSTR including a cell recirculation unit. Authors reported the production of up to 8 g  $L^{-1}$  ethanol from syngas at 37°C and pH 7. Consumption of ethanol was followed by the accumulation of propanol and butanol, with peak concentrations of 6 g  $L^{-1}$  and 1 g  $L^{-1}$ , respectively. The microbial community was composed of the alkaliphilic acetogen Alkalibaculum bacchi (56%), the propionibacterium Anaerotignum propionicum (formerly, Clostridium propionicum; [114]) (34%) and other Clostridia species (10%). A follow-up study concluded that the mixed culture could convert 50% more carboxylic acids into their respective alcohols compared to monocultures of *A. bacchi* [115], evidencing the positive effect of synergistic microbial interactions in syngas-fermenting communities.

A limitation of the fermentation process of Liu et al. [69] was the rather low CO and  $H_2$  utilisation (20–60%), a common problem due to the low solubility of these gases and low gas mass transfer rates in CSTRs. Novel reactor configurations can help overcome this issue [116]. In a recent study, Wang et al. [67] reported a relatively high ethanol production from syngas by mixed culture in a hollow-fibre membrane biofilm reactor (HfMBR). HfMBRs, most popular in the field of gas and wastewater treatment, have recently attracted the attention of researchers in the field of syngas fermentation [64, 67, 116, 117]. In a HfMBR, a gaseous substrate flows through the lumen of a hollow-fibre membrane and is consumed by the biofilm formed on the outer surface of the membrane. The high surface area allows a high volumetric gas transfer rate which, in turn, translates into high production rates [118]. A non-acclimated sludge used by Wang et al. [67] produced up to 16.9 g  $L^{-1}$ ethanol from CO/H<sub>2</sub> (60:40) in a HfMBR operated in consecutive batch at pH 4.5 and 35°C. Ethanol was the only soluble product of CO/H<sub>2</sub> fermentation. Interestingly, a similar HfMBR-based process operating at pH 6.5 and 55°C converted  $CO/H_2$  (40:60) to mostly acetate (98.6%) [64]. While the different temperature, gas composition and sludge characteristics could have contributed to the divergent product profile observed in these two studies, pH is most likely the determining factor. Several studies have reported that an acidic pH is key to promote ethanol production in syngas fermentation cultures [71, 72, 84, 85, 119]. Yet, no ethanol (but acetate) was produced by a sludge-derived culture in a HfMBR operated at pH 4.5 using H<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub> as substrates [120], highlighting that CO, which is a stronger reductant than H<sub>2</sub>, is also essential to promote alcohol production by acetogens.

#### 2.4 Production of Carboxylic Acids and Higher Alcohols

Acetate is the simplest carboxylic acid that can be produced from syngas. Titres in the range of 20–30 g  $L^{-1}$  have been obtained for sludge-derived consortia utilising syngas in continuous fermentation [64, 96]. Continuous operation of a thermophilic HfMBR reached a maximum acetate production rate of 16.4 g  $L^{-1}$  day<sup>-1</sup> with high product selectivity [64]. However, acetate production by mixed cultures has not received much attention due to the significantly higher production rates that can be obtained by pure cultures and the rather low economic value of this product.

Instead, over the last decade, increased attention has been given to the production of medium-chain carboxylic acids (MCCAs) via anaerobic fermentation processes, a type of biorefinery referred to as the carboxylate platform [121–124]. The carboxylate platform relies mostly on sludges used in classical anaerobic digestion and aims at revalorising wastewater streams. Recently, several studies have extended this platform to the revalorisation of CO-rich gases. The products of syngas fermentation, acetate and ethanol, can be used by microorganisms that perform ethanol-based

chain-elongation, producing MCCAs such as butyrate and caproate as end-products. Different processes are devised to convert syngas into MCCAs by microbial communities, including the use of synthetic co-cultures, discussed in Sect. 3.3, and multiple-step processes, summarised elsewhere [58]. Here, the focus is on one-step conversions by open mixed cultures.

Ethanol chain-elongating communities are present in both natural and engineered environments and are dominated by relatives of *Clostridium kluyveri*, the best-studied ethanol chain-elongating microorganism and only isolate to date [122, 124, 125]. Mesophilic conditions are preferred to *C. kluyveri* and most acetogens. However, the two isolated strains of *C. kluyveri* grow optimally at a pH of 6.8 and 7.6 [126, 127], while acetogenic bacteria generally thrive in mildly acidic conditions [27, 128]. Therefore, pH is critical in determining the outcome of syngas-fermenting chain-elongating communities [70, 71, 129].

Ganigué et al. [70] used a carboxydotrophic enrichment from sludge in a syngas fermentation process without pH control. Acetogenesis was dominant at the initial pH of 7, while production of C4-C6 compounds prevailed at the mid/end of the fermentation, when the pH dropped to ~4.3. At the end of the process, the C4-C6 products represented 75–90% of the total, with butyrate (2.17 g L<sup>-1</sup>) as main product. In a follow-up study, it was determined that pH values around 4.8 favoured a sustained production of higher alcohols [71]. In a semi-continuous process without pH control (initial pH 6), the mixed culture converted syngas to a maximum of 1.1 g L<sup>-1</sup> butanol and 0.6 g L<sup>-1</sup> hexanol. To favour the synthesis of C6 compounds, attributable to *C. kluyveri*, it was critical to prevent pH to decrease below 4.5–5.

In a recent study, He et al. [65] used a novel reactor configuration to promote gas transfer in a chain-elongating process. The system consisted of a reactor filled with a porous sponge pad and with a gas recirculation line. CO was used as sole carbon and energy source, and the partial pressure was gradually increased through the fermentation, from 15 to 61 kPa CO. Similar to the studies of Ganigué et al. [70, 71], operation was done at mesophilic conditions and the pH, initially set at 7, was not controlled. In contrast to those studies, though, the culture did not produce alcohols but a mixture of odd- and even-chain carboxylic acids including caprylate (C8), detected for the first time in a syngas fermentation process by a mixed culture. Production of C6-C8 carboxylates only began at the end of the fermentation, when CO pressure was 61 kPa. Maximum concentrations of caproate, heptanoate and caprylate were 0.22 g L<sup>-1</sup>, 0.21 g L<sup>-1</sup> and 0.15 g L<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. The production of C5-C8 carboxylates halted in the last phase, likely due to product inhibition. The different product profile compared to the studies of Ganigué and co-workers could be explained by the different inoculum source and enrichment process, which resulted in quite different microbial compositions of the enriched cultures. The consortium used by Ganigué et al. [71] was mainly composed of C. ljughdalii, C. carboxidivorans and C. kluvveri, while He et al. [65] enriched a microbial community dominated by species of Acinetobacter, Alcaligenes, Rhodobacteraceae and a low abundance of *Clostridium spp*. On the other hand, product concentrations and production rates achieved by He et al. [65] were not higher than those reported in similar studies. This could be due to (1) the use of a non-acclimated inoculum, (2) the use of CO (not syngas) as sole carbon and energy source and (3) CO provided ( $\leq 60$  kPa CO) being insufficient. Regardless, this work demonstrated that up to C8 carboxylic acids can be produced from CO in one-pot cultivation.

Similar to ethanol production, the use of HfMBR has proven very promising for the production of carboxylic acids from syngas. Shen et al. [64] demonstrated production of MCCAs from CO/H<sub>2</sub> for the first time in a HfMBR. Cultivation of the sludge-derived culture was studied at pH 6 under mesophilic (35°C) and thermophilic (55°C) conditions. In both scenarios, utilisation of CO and H<sub>2</sub> exceeded 95%. Mesophilic cultivation in sequential batch mode produced caproate (0.88 g L<sup>-1</sup>) and up to 0.53 g L<sup>-1</sup> caprylate, the highest caprylate concentration reported for a CO-fermenting system using mixed cultures. In contrast, thermophilic batch cultivation yielded a high acetate concentration (27.9 g L<sup>-1</sup>) and product specificity (96.7%), with butyrate (<1 g L<sup>-1</sup>) as only elongated carboxylate. Microbial community analysis revealed that the mesophilic enrichment was abundant in *Clostridium spp.* (41.6%), while the thermophilic microbial community comprised a large proportion of close relatives to *Thermoanaerobacterium* (92.8%). Overall, the work of Shen et al. [64] highlighted the great potential of HfMBR in syngas/CO fermentation processes and its functionality with open mixed cultures.

In a recent study, Chakraborty et al. [72] applied a cycle of high and low pH cycle to produce MCCAs in a stirred-tank reactor using a CO-acclimatised sludge. CO was used as sole substrate. The system produced acetate (6.2 g L<sup>-1</sup>), butyrate (1.2 g L<sup>-1</sup>) and caproate (0.42 g L<sup>-1</sup>) at pH 6.2, which were subsequently converted to ethanol (11.1 g L<sup>-1</sup>), butanol (1.8 g L<sup>-1</sup>) and hexanol (1.5 g L<sup>-1</sup>) at pH 4.9. The concentrations of butanol and hexanol obtained in this study are the highest reported so far for mixed cultures growing on syngas. However, CO utilisation remained below 59%, very far from the high conversion efficiencies obtained in HfMBR systems [64, 120].

#### **3** CO Conversion by Synthetic Co-cultures

#### 3.1 Synthetic Co-cultures: A Win-Win

A fundamental principle of bioprocess design is that a microorganism should be selected that fits the right process, not the other way around [130]. Synthetic co-cultures offer the possibility to select and combine microbial strains harbouring the required pathways for a specific process without renouncing some of the benefits of mixed cultures, such as robustness or division of labour [41, 42]. Contrary to open mixed cultures, microbial species that contribute negatively to the consortium (e.g., by generating undesired by-products, "stealing" intermediates or hampering growth of other partners) can be left out of the consortia. This cultivation approach has a big potential in the field of syngas fermentation. By using synthetic co-cultures, metabolic networks can be constructed that yield a broader range of end-products compared to monocultures of acetogens. In addition, such networks can be translated

into multi-compartment kinetic and genome-scale metabolic models, contributing to a further understanding of the microbial interactions and to optimisation of the system [131–133]. Computational modelling can also be used to predict novel co-culture interactions [134].

Yet what makes synthetic co-cultures stand out over other cultivation approaches is their unique feature: modularity [42]. Microbial strains can be incorporated or removed from an established consortium to fit a different process. In principle, there is only one imperative when designing co-cultures for syngas fermentation: at least one of the partners must be able to grow on CO. The choice of the other partner (s) will largely determine the product spectrum of the co-culture. To date, synthetic co-cultures have been established to convert CO/syngas into a range of products including methane, carboxylic acids, higher alcohols and other added-value chemicals. The following sections relate such developments, which are summarised in Table 2.

#### 3.2 Production of Methane

Methane can be produced from syngas by mixed cultures, as discussed earlier (Sect. 2.2). A drawback of using these cultures is that competing pathways result in the production of side products such as acetate, propionate, ethanol or methanol, overall lowering methane specificities and production rates [77, 84, 85]. An alternative is to employ defined consortia that selectively combine efficient carboxydotrophic strains with CO-tolerant methanogens that can use the products of syngas fermentation at high rates. The conversion of CO to methane via  $H_2/CO_2$  is preferred to the acetate route, as it results in higher conversion rates [77]. Several hydrogenogenic carboxydotrophs have been isolated [24]; among them, the thermophile Carboxydothermus hydrogenoformans and the photosynthetic mesophile Rhodospirillum rubrum are well-studied and have been employed in synthetic co-cultures for syngas conversion to methane.

Klasson et al. [135] established a methanogenic co-culture composed of *Rhodospirillum rubrum* and two methanogens, *Methanosarcina barkeri* and *Methanobacterium formicicum*. *R. rubrum* grows anaerobically on CO in the presence of light, producing H<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>. The methanogens are both capable of H<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub> conversion to methane, with some differences. *M. formicicum* displays a high rate of H<sub>2</sub> uptake but is inhibited in the presence of CO. On the other hand, *M. barkeri* has higher tolerance to CO but converts H<sub>2</sub> at a lower rate. To compensate for each other's weaknesses, both methanogens were co-cultivated with *R. rubrum* to increase conversion of syngas to methane. The performance of the tri-culture was studied in two reactor configurations: a packed bubble column (PBC) and a TBR. Both reactors were operated under mesophilic conditions and included a light source to facilitate growth of *R. rubrum*. A 100% CO conversion was obtained in the TBE, while performance of the PBC was poorer, with a 79% CO conversion. Methane productivities reached 3.4 mmol·L<sub>liquid</sub><sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> and 0.4 mmol·L<sub>liquid</sub><sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> for the

	Cultivation	Т		Syngas composition		
Microorganisms	system	() ℃	Ηd	(% v/v)	Product titre/productivity	Reference
Rhodospirillum rubrum, Methanosarcina barkeri and Methanobacterium formicicum	PBC	34	6.8– 7.2	CO/H <sub>2</sub> /CO <sub>2</sub> /Ar (55: 20:10:15)	Methane 3.4 mmol $L^{-1}$ h <sup>-1</sup>	Klasson et al. [135]
Clostridium hydrogenoformans and Methanothermobacter thermoautotrophicus	CSTR	65	7.2	CO/H <sub>2</sub> (33:66)	Methane 6 mmol $L^{-1}$ $h^{-1}$	Diender et al. [105]
Carboxydocella thermautotrophica, Carboxydocella sporoproducens and three methanogens	Serum Tubes	63	6.5	CO/H <sub>2</sub> /CO <sub>2</sub> /CH <sub>4</sub> (20:50:20:10)	Methane 0.72 mmol $L^{-1}$ h <sup>-1</sup>	Kohlmayer et al. [136]
Clostridium autoethanogenum and Clostridium kluyveri	Serum Bottles	37	9	CO/H <sub>2</sub>	Butyrate 0.75 g $L^{-1}$ day <sup>-1</sup> Caproate 0.29 g $L^{-1}$ day <sup>-1</sup>	Diender et al. [137]
Clostridium autoethanogenum and Clostridium kluyveri	CSTR	37	6.2	CO/H <sub>2</sub> (47:53)	Butyrate 1.1 g L <sup>-1</sup> , 0.55 g L <sup>-1</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> Caproate 0.82 g L <sup>-1</sup> , 0.41 g L <sup>-1</sup> day <sup>-1</sup>	Diender et al. [138]
Clostridium ljungdahlii and Clostridium kluyveri	CSTR	37	9	CO/H <sub>2</sub> /CO <sub>2</sub> (60: 35:5)	Butyrate <sup>a</sup> 2.8 g L <sup>-1</sup> , 2.7 g L <sup>-1</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> Caproate <sup>a</sup> 1.4 g L <sup>-1</sup> , 1.3 g L <sup>-1</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> Hexanol <sup>a</sup> 4.7 g L <sup>-1</sup> , 0.54 g L <sup>-1</sup> day <sup>-1</sup>	Richter et al. [129]
Clostridium ljungdahlii and Clostridium kluyveri	CSTR	37	6.3	CO/H <sub>2</sub> /CO <sub>2</sub> (60: 35:5)	Octanol <sup>b</sup> 0.78 g L <sup>-1</sup> , 2 mg L <sup>-1</sup> day <sup>-1</sup>	Richter et al. [129]
Acetobacterium wieringae strain JM and Anaerotignum neopropionicum	Serum Bottles	30	7- 7.2	CO/CO <sub>2</sub> /N <sub>2</sub> (50: 20:30)	Propionate 1.8 g $L^{-1}$ Isovalerate 0.41 g $L^{-1}$	Moreira et al. [139]
Eubacterium limosum and E. coli GM	Serum Bottles	37	7	CO/N <sub>2</sub> (50:50)	3-HP 45.7 mg $L^{-1}$ Itaconic acid 25.8 mg $L^{-1}$	Cha et al. [140]
PBC nacked hubble column. CSTR continuous stirred-tank react	tor. GM genetic	cally n	nodifie	d. 3-HP 3-hvdrox vnron	ionic acid	

Table 2 Overview of syngas fermentation processes using synthetic co-cultures

<sup>a</sup>Production rates are calculated as combined net rates in the reactor and in the gas stripping system. Butyrate and caproate concentrations refer to amounts dissolved ndo id (vo n fe o a 5. )

in the reactor. Hexanol concentration refers to the condensate of the gas stripping system <sup>b</sup>Octanol concentration and production rate refer to the condensate of the gas stripping system

TBR and the PBC, respectively. These are inferior to those reported for biological processes developed in later studies [60]. In addition, methane content in the outflow gas was rather low, 18–32%. Nevertheless, the work of Klasson et al. [135] demonstrated the functionality of synthetic co-cultures combining carboxydotrophic bacteria with methanogenic archaea for syngas biomethanation, establishing a precedent for later studies.

A more successful case is the thermophilic co-culture consisting of Carboxydothermus hydrogenoformans and the methanogen Methanothermobacter thermautotrophicus [105]. C. hydrogenoformans grows on CO producing H<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> as main products. *M. thermoautotrophicus* uses CO very poorly; however, it can tolerate its presence while growing on  $H_2/CO_2$ . Both strains grow optimally at around  $65^{\circ}$ C, with the advantage that such thermophilic conditions increase reaction kinetics and gas transfer rates [77]. Batch co-cultures of C. hydrogenoformans and M. thermoautotrophicus incubated at  $65^{\circ}$ C converted syngas to methane reasonably fast: 60 kPa CO were used in 24 h, while monocultures of the methanogen required 500 h to consume less CO. This suggests that removal of  $H_2/CO_2$  by the methanogen favour thermodynamics of CO consumption by the carboxydotroph. Pressures up to 150 kPa CO could be used by the co-culture, which converted CO to CH<sub>4</sub> with Y<sub>CH4/CO</sub> close to theoretical values. In a CSTR, the co-culture of C. hydrogenoformans and M. thermoautotrophicus generated a headspace with methane peaks of 77% and a maximum production rate of 6 mmol· $L_{\text{liquid}}^{-1}$  h<sup>1</sup>. This is significantly higher than rates reported for similar processes with biomass retention [84, 85, 141], but still lower than the highest rate obtained in TBRs by Asimakopoulos et al. [60].

The genus Carboxydocella is another group of thermophilic bacteria comprising strains with a carboxydotrophic hydrogenogenic metabolism [142, 143]. Kohlmayer et al. [136] established a synthetic consortium of five microbial species: Carboxydocella thermautotrophica, Carboxydocella sporoproducens and three methanogens isolated from an anaerobic digester sludge (taxonomy of the archaea was not specified in the study). The co-culture was used to produce methane from syngas in thermophilic conditions. By including several strains with the same type of metabolism, functional redundancy and robustness were improved in the consortium. The two Carboxydocella strains can grow on CO, but C. sporoproducens exhibits slower growth compared to C. thermautotrophica. C. sporoproducens, though, can better withstand conditions of CO deprivation due to the formation of spores. On the other hand, methanogenesis was strengthened by the combined activity of three archaeal strains. In serum bottles, the mixed culture consumed 99% of the CO and 100% of the  $H_2$  and produced an outflow gas with a 55%  $CH_4$ content, which was 100% of the theoretical maximum for the used syngas. Interestingly, the co-culture proliferated well without added vitamins or yeast extract, suggesting that the five microbes might benefit each other from nutrient exchange [136]. Despite this was a rather small-scale study, is showed the positive effect of functional redundancy in syngas-fermenting microbial communities and demonstrated the viability of a five-partner consortia, which is rather uncommon [57].

## 3.3 Production of Carboxylic Acids and Alcohols

Synthetic co-cultures are promising systems for the production of MCCAs from syngas. Microbial MCCA production using monocultures of wild-type acetogens is challenging. A few acetogenic strains have been reported to produce C4 and C6 compounds from CO/H<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub>, among them *C. carboxidivorans* [144] and *E. limosum* [145], yet in rather low concentrations. A popular alternative is the co-cultivation of an acetogen with *C. kluyveri*, whose unique metabolism is based on the elongation of short-chain carboxylic acids with ethanol or other electron donors [122, 124].

Diender et al. [24] established a synthetic co-culture of C. kluyveri and the wellknown acetogen C. autoethanogenum that produced butyrate and caproate as end-products from solely CO as carbon and energy source. In this system, C. autoethanogenum converts CO into acetate and ethanol, which are taken up by C. kluyveri to produce butyrate and caproate. Butanol and hexanol were also detected, resulting from the reduction of the respective carboxylates by C. autoethanogenum. Experiments showed that, while growth of C. kluyveri was inhibited in the presence of >50 kPa CO in monocultures, it was sustained under a headspace of 130 kPa CO in co-cultivation with C. autoethanogenum. This co-culture illustrated how mutualistic interactions can be exploited to establish robust synthetic co-cultures. C. autoethanogenum produces the substrates for C. kluyveri (acetate and ethanol), at the same time that keeps dissolved CO levels low enough to allow growth of its partner. In addition, it was observed that ethanol production in monocultures of C. autoethanogenum would not have been sufficient to support growth of C. kluyveri. A follow-up study suggested that C. kluyveri enhanced solventogenic metabolism of C. autoethanogenum by removing ethanol from the environment [138]. Gene transcription of the central metabolism of C. autoethanogenum did not change in co-culture compared to monoculture conditions, indicating that the metabolic shift in the presence of C. kluyveri was thermodynamically driven. This is in line with related studies supporting that acetogenesis/ solventogenesis in gas-fermenting microorganisms is controlled at the thermodynamic level [119, 146]. In continuous fermentation, the co-culture of C. autoethanogenum and C. kluvveri produced butyrate and caproate at rates of  $0.55 \text{ g L}^{-1} \text{ day}^{-1}$  and  $0.41 \text{ g L}^{-1} \text{ day}^{-1}$ , respectively. This work, established as proof-of-concept, was recently picked up by industry in a joint project of the corporations Evonik and Siemens, demonstrating the great potential of syngasfermenting synthetic co-cultures [147].

Richter and colleagues upgraded the synthetic co-culture approach of Diender et al. [137] with a continuous bioprocess that included cell-recycling and in-line product extraction [129]. The co-culture was established with *C. kluyveri* and *C. ljungdahlii*, a close relative of *C. autoethanogenum* with excellent ethanol productivities from syngas [128]. Similar to the co-culture of Diender et al. [137], in this consortium *C. ljungdahlii* produced acetate and ethanol from syngas, which were used by *C. kluyveri* to produce longer-chain carboxylates via chain-elongation. In

addition, at a narrow pH range of 5.7–6.4, the elongated carboxylates were reduced by *C. ljungdahlii* to their respective alcohols, n-butanol, n-hexanol and, for the first time in a syngas-fermenting system, n-octanol was detected (up to 0.78 g L<sup>-1</sup> in the condensate of the gas stripping system) [129]. Operation of their bioreactor at pH values higher than 6.4 gradually reduced and eventually crashed the population of *C. ljungdahlii*, which requires mildly acidic conditions to support growth. Without the acetogen, ethanol production halts and the co-culture crashes. On the other hand, mildly acidic conditions are detrimental to *C. kluyveri*, which grows in a pH range of 6–7.5 [126, 127]. In addition, acidic pH values result in the accumulation of undissociated acids (pKa ~ 4.7), which are toxic to microorganisms [148]. This discrepancy between optimum pH for solventogenesis and acid production has been reported in similar studies [71, 137]. As Richter and co-workers stated, there is a need to isolate chain-elongating microorganisms with an optimum pH of growth of 5–5.5, a more favourable environment for acetogens to produce ethanol [129].

Alternatively, carboxydotrophic strains could be employed that can thrive at a pH range around neutrality. While the most prominent carboxydotrophic strains thrive in mildly acidic conditions [128], acetogens have been isolated with optimal pH values ranging from 5.4 to 9.8 [27]. An example is Acetobacterium wieringae strain JM, a novel carboxydotroph that grows optimally at pH 7 [112]. The authors of that study speculated that A. wieringae strain JM played a crucial role in syngas-enriched communities by providing substrate to ethanol-consuming propionibacteria, which grow optimally at neutral pH [149]. To test this hypothesis, Moreira et al. [139] cultivated A. wieringae strain JM with Anaerotignum neopropionicum, a propionibacterium unique for its ability to grow on ethanol [150]. The synthetic co-culture was capable of converting CO to propionate (1.78 g  $L^{-1}$ ) via crossfeeding of ethanol at pH 7. In addition, isovalerate was detected in low amounts in the co-culture, while not in monocultures. Isovalerate could be produced by A. neopropionicum from amino acids; therefore, authors hypothesised that amino acid transfer took place between A. wieringae and A. neopropionicum in co-culture. Interestingly, proteomic analysis of the co-culture revealed sign of stress response in both strains, such as increased abundance of sporulation and antibiotic resistance proteins. It remains a question whether this would negatively affect the stability and functionality of the co-culture in the long-term or, on the contrary, the two populations would eventually come to a beneficial deal.

#### 3.4 Production of Other Value-Added Chemicals

So far, this chapter has discussed various case studies of synthetic co-cultures and open mixed cultures employed in the conversion of syngas/CO to commodity chemicals such as methane, MCCAs and simple alcohols. The production of biochemicals of higher complexity by syngas-consuming cultures is still challenging, for example due to metabolic limitations of the microorganisms or to the requirement of different environmental conditions. A strategy that has been used to overcome this issue is the introduction of engineered strains of genetically accessible microorganisms.

The majority of studies on the use of synthetic co-cultures applied to syngas fermentation have relied on the abilities of wild-type microbial strains [52, 105, 110, 129, 136]. Engineering of Clostridia strains to produce heterologous compounds has advanced rapidly in the last decade, but limitations remain and further understanding of molecular mechanisms is required [37]. Model microorganisms such as *Escherichia coli*, in contrast, have been widely engineered for the production of a vast range of biochemicals. If a suitable strategy is in place, such strains could be co-cultivated with acetogens to facilitate the production of valuable biochemicals from syngas. Cha and co-workers followed this approach with two co-cultures of the acetogen E. limosum grown with two genetically engineered E. coli strains [140]. In both co-cultures, E. limosum converted CO into acetate, which was used as carbon source by E. coli. The two engineered strains of E. coli used acetate to produce 3-hydroxypropionic acid (3-HP) and itaconic acid (ITA), respectively. At the end of batch cultivations (72 h), the co-cultures produced a maximum of 45.7 mg  $L^{-1}$  3-HP and 25.8 mg  $L^{-1}$  ITA. Consumption of CO increased 10% in co-cultivation compared to monocultures of *E. limosum*, evidencing that the mutualistic interaction enhanced carbon flux. This study demonstrated for the first time the production of value-added chemicals (3-HP and ITA) from syngas using co-cultures. However, several issues need to be addressed, as noted by the authors. First, the concentration of CO dissolved had to be minimised to allow growth of E. coli, thus a condition of mass-transfer limitation was sought. This was initially achieved by inoculating *E. limosum* and *E. coli* at high ratios, up to 150:1 (based on  $OD_{600}$ ). Over the course of cultivations, though, CO consumption rates and cell concentrations decreased, pointing to the need to improve process stability. Another major problem is that acetate assimilation by E. coli in anaerobic conditions requires the addition of an electron acceptor. Trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO) was chosen since it yielded the highest acetate assimilation rate and it did not significantly affect CO conversion rates. The fact that TMAO should be supplied proportionally to the desired amount of product would significantly reduce co-culture efficiency and increase process costs, making it unfeasible to implement this strategy at industrial scale. Nevertheless, the work of Cha et al. [140] is a first step towards modular pathway engineering of synthetic co-cultures to facilitate the production of high-value chemicals from syngas.

#### 4 CO Conversion via Sequential Processes

Sequential processes can also be used to produce value-added biochemicals from syngas. While these are not one-pot strategies, they may comply with the feature of modularity, characteristic of synthetic cultures. The greatest advantage of this approach compared to one-pot cultures is that it circumvents cultivation divergences between partners in a consortium, by growing each partner in a separate bioreactor

(e.g., combinations aerobic/anaerobic, low/high pH or temperature, etc.). A few proof-of-concept studies have shown the potential of this strategy applied to the conversion of CO-rich gases. Hu et al. [151] designed a two-stage process to produce microbial oil from syngas. In the first reactor (60°C, pH 6), the acetogen Moorella thermoacetica converted CO/H<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub> to acetate. Acetate was then fed into the second reactor (28°C, pH 7.3) for its aerobic conversion to C16-C18 triacylglycerides by an engineered strain of the yeast Yarrowia lipolytica. The integrated process produced 18 g L<sup>-1</sup> lipids at a rate of 0.19 g L<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. Acetate as intermediate was also used in the two-step process established by Oswald et al. [91] to produce malic acid. In this case, C. ljungdahlii was first grown in a batch reactor converting syngas to acetate. Subsequently, the reactor was adapted for aerobic cultivation of Aspergillus oryzae, which was inoculated on top of the existing culture. Malic acid was produced to a maximum concentration of 2.02 g  $L^{-1}$ . However, the second-stage process was not reproducible in triplicate reactors. Recently, the production of biopolymers has also been demonstrated using sequential processes [152, 153]. In one study, effluent from syngas fermentation by C. autoethanogenum (containing acetate, ethanol and 2.3-BDO) was fed in pulses into a second reactor for the production of polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) [153]. The second reactor contained an enriched mixed culture used in a previous process adapted to PHA production. Only acetate was consumed by the mixed culture, which accumulated a maximum of 24% PHA. Hwang et al. [152] designed a two-stage process for polyhydroxybutyrate (PHB) production differing from the rest in that formate, instead of acetate, was used as intermediate. In the first stage, the acetogen Acetobacterium woodii was used for conversion of syngas under optimised conditions for  $\sim 100\%$  formate selectivity. The formate solution was concentrated and supplied in fed-batch mode into the second reactor, where formate was converted to PHB by genetically modified Methylobacterium extorquens AM1. All these studies require further improvements, mostly related to medium optimisation in the second reactor. Inadequate composition of ions and certain (toxic) components in the syngas fermentation effluent can have a detrimental effect on the non-acetogenic partner. Nonetheless, these works show that integrated bioprocesses are a feasible platform to convert gaseous substrates to biochemicals of added-value.

## 5 Challenges and Opportunities of Syngas-Fermenting Microbial Communities

By discussing syngas fermentation by mixed cultures, it becomes clear that there are many challenges, but also many opportunities, for future developments in the field. Open mixed cultures are very robust and resilient, offering good prospects for the production of methane and short-chain fatty acids, such as acetate and butyrate. The main challenge with open mixed cultures is product selectivity. A better understanding of microbial compositions and interactions, and the effect of varying process parameters, is necessary. Knowledge on complex microbial communities converting syngas may also source inspiration for the creation of synthetic co-cultures as recently exemplified by Moreira et al. [139], where a co-culture producing propionate was constructed based on the microbial composition of an enriched culture. Compared to the enriched culture, the co-culture produced higher amounts of propionate, and side products (like methane) were eliminated. Open mixed cultures and laboratory enrichments may also lead to the isolation of new microorganisms, carboxydotrophs or others, with better characteristics for the construction of synthetic co-cultures. For example, Richter et al. [129] observed suboptimal performance of a co-culture of C. ljungdahlii and C. kluvveri due to a mismatch in the optimal pH of the two species. Isolation of (ethanol-driven) chain-elongators with lower optimal pH for growth would be useful for pairing with solventogenic acetogens during syngas fermentation. Such microorganisms are currently not available in culture collections. Currently, there are also only a limited amount of thermophilic carboxydotrophs isolated, and most of them exhibit a hydrogenogenic metabolism. Studying high-temperature adapted microbiomes (e.g., thermophilic anaerobic sludges, hydrothermal vents, etc.) could lead to discovering novel microbes and metabolisms. Thermophilic organisms could be used to produce volatile compounds, allowing their separation in the gas-phase and reducing streaming costs. Other environments, such as high salinity sediments, are also not well studied in regard to their potential to convert CO/syngas [154].

The first steps for co-cultivation of microbes for syngas fermentation are taken. Now, work can be done in two fronts: improvement of current co-cultures for the production of, e.g., MCFA and alcohols (higher titres, higher vields, higher carbon fixation, etc.) or the development of new co-cultures for the diversification of products. The improvement of co-culture systems can be aided by genome-based models (GEMs). These models describe the set of possible reactions by the microbes in the co-culture (based on their genomic content), including extracellular exchange of metabolites [131, 134, 155–157]. The GEM constructed by Benito-Vaquerizo et al. [131] describes growth of the syngas-converting co-culture comprising C. autoethanogenum and C. kluvveri, and predicts that succinate addition would improve the production of MCFAs. Experimental testing needs to be conducted to ascertain this, but this is an example of how GEMs can aid in the generation of hypothesis and eventually result in accelerated optimisation of co-cultures. Computational models can also be used to predict novel microbial interactions. In a recent study, Li and Henson [134] performed in silico simulations on 170 combinations of acetogen and butyrate-producing bacteria pairings. This led to the discovery of highly performing co-culture designs for syngas fermentation that could guide future experimental studies. Yet, reconstruction of GEMs, and especially their manual curation and experimental validation is still a time-consuming procedure, and applications of GEMs to co-cultivation are so far scarce [158].

Co-cultures are also suitable for the introduction of genetically engineered strains, e.g. to supress/overexpress the expression of certain genes [159], engineer symbiosis [160], create 'artificial' division of labour [161] or control populations of different strains [162]. Regarding syngas fermentations, up to date only wild-type acetogens

have been used to establish synthetic co-cultures but this could change soon with the recent developments on genetic engineering of autotrophic Clostridia strains able to convert CO [34, 35]. Carboxydotrophy can also be engineered in solventogenic Clostridia, as shown by heterologous expression of a carbon monoxide dehydrogenase in *Clostridium acetobutylicum* [163]. The urge to produce high-value chemicals from syngas is also putting the focus on engineering pathways for the assimilation of one-carbon compounds (e.g., glycine pathway) in *E. coli* strains that can natively produce value-added chemicals [164, 165].

#### 6 Conclusion

Microbial communities have a tremendous potential in syngas fermentation processes, broadening the product spectrum beyond acetate and ethanol. Open mixed cultures are sustained by decades of research and industrial experience on the field of anaerobic digestion (of wastes/wastewaters), which can be transferred to the conversion of CO-rich gases to methane, MCCAs and alcohols. Synthetic co-cultures can enhance product selectivity, offer modularity and allow the use of kinetic and genome-scale metabolic models for further optimisation. Recently, genetically engineered strains of model organisms have been co-cultured with acetogens, enabling the production of added-value chemicals from C1 substrates. Industrial implementation of syngas-fermenting microbial consortia for the production of valuable biochemicals is not yet a reality. However, growing interest on the utilisation of C1-gases nurtured by major efforts undertaken over the last few years might certainly drive this platform forward faster than anticipated.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to acknowledge the Netherlands Science Foundation (NWO) (Project NWO-GK-07), the NWO Applied and Engineering Sciences (AGS) (Perspectief Programma P16-10), and the Netherlands Ministry of Education, Culture and Science (Project 024.002.002) for financial support.

## References

- European Commission (2018) A clean planet for all a European long-term strategic vision for a prosperous, modern, competitive and climate neutral economy (COM(2018) 773). https:// eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52018DC0773&from=EN
- 2. European Commission (2019) The European Green Deal (COM(2019) 640). https://eur-lex. europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52019DC0640&from=EN
- Cherubini F (2010) The biorefinery concept: using biomass instead of oil for producing energy and chemicals. Energ Conver Manage 51(7):1412–1421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman. 2010.01.015
- Popp J, Lakner Z, Harangi-Rákos M, Fári M (2014) The effect of bioenergy expansion: food, energy, and environment. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 32:559–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rser.2014.01.056

- Tripathi N, Hills CD, Singh RS, Atkinson CJ (2019) Biomass waste utilisation in low-carbon products: harnessing a major potential resource. NPJ Clim Atmos Sci 2(1):35. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41612-019-0093-5
- Kawaguchi H, Hasunuma T, Ogino C, Kondo A (2016) Bioprocessing of bio-based chemicals produced from lignocellulosic feedstocks. Curr Opin Biotechnol 42:30–39. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.copbio.2016.02.031
- Sims REH, Mabee W, Saddler JN, Taylor M (2010) An overview of second generation biofuel technologies. Bioresour Technol 101(6):1570–1580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009. 11.046
- Daniell J, Köpke M, Simpson S (2012) Commercial biomass syngas fermentation. Energies 5(12):5372–5417. https://doi.org/10.3390/en5125372
- Griffin DW, Schultz MA (2012) Fuel and chemical products from biomass syngas: a comparison of gas fermentation to thermochemical conversion routes. Environ Prog Sustain Energy 31(2):219–224. https://doi.org/10.1002/ep.11613
- Wood DA, Nwaoha C, Towler BF (2012) Gas-to-liquids (GTL): a review of an industry offering several routes for monetizing natural gas. J Nat Gas Sci Eng 9:196–208. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jngse.2012.07.001
- 11. Christensen JM, Jensen PA, Jensen AD (2011) Effects of feed composition and feed impurities in the catalytic conversion of syngas to higher alcohols over alkali-promoted cobalt–molybdenum sulfide. Ind Eng Chem Res 50(13):7949–7963. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie200235e
- Bambal AS, Guggilla VS, Kugler EL, Gardner TH, Dadyburjor DB (2014) Poisoning of a silica-supported cobalt catalyst due to presence of sulfur impurities in syngas during Fischer– Tropsch synthesis: effects of chelating agent. Ind Eng Chem Res 53(14):5846–5857. https:// doi.org/10.1021/ie500243h
- Balonek CM, Lillebø AH, Rane S, Rytter E, Schmidt LD, Holmen A (2010) Effect of alkali metal impurities on Co–Re catalysts for Fischer–Tropsch synthesis from biomass-derived syngas. Catal Lett 138(1–2):8–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10562-010-0366-4
- Abdoulmoumine N, Adhikari S, Kulkarni A, Chattanathan S (2015) A review on biomass gasification syngas cleanup. Appl Energy 155:294–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy. 2015.05.095
- Abubackar HN, Veiga MC, Kennes C (2011) Biological conversion of carbon monoxide: rich syngas or waste gases to bioethanol. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 5(1):93–114. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/bbb.256
- 16. Liew F, Martin ME, Tappel RC, Heijstra BD, Mihalcea C, Köpke M (2016) Gas fermentation a flexible platform for commercial scale production of low-carbon-fuels and chemicals from waste and renewable feedstocks. Front Microbiol 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00694
- Redl S, Diender M, Jensen TØ, Sousa DZ, Nielsen AT (2017) Exploiting the potential of gas fermentation. Ind Crop Prod 106:21–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2016.11.015
- Wei L, Pordesimo LO, Igathinathane C, Batchelor WD (2009) Process engineering evaluation of ethanol production from wood through bioprocessing and chemical catalysis. Biomass Bioenergy 33(2):255–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2008.05.017
- World Steel Association (2020) Sustainability indicators 2003 to 2019 and 2019 participation details. https://www.worldsteel.org/steel-by-topic/sustainability/sustainability-indicators.html
- Ma S, Luo R, Gold JI, Yu AZ, Kim B, Kenis PJA (2016) Carbon nanotube containing Ag catalyst layers for efficient and selective reduction of carbon dioxide. J Mater Chem A 4(22):8573–8578. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6TA00427J
- 21. Messias S, Sousa MM, Nunes da Ponte M, Rangel CM, Pardal T, Reis Machado AS (2019) Electrochemical production of syngas from CO<sub>2</sub> at pressures up to 30 bar in electrolytes containing ionic liquid. React Chem Eng 4(11):1982–1990. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C9RE00271E
- 22. Verma S et al (2018) Insights into the low overpotential electroreduction of  $CO_2$  to CO on a supported gold catalyst in an alkaline flow electrolyzer. ACS Energy Lett 3(1):193–198. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsenergylett.7b01096

- King GM, Weber CF (2007) Distribution, diversity and ecology of aerobic CO-oxidizing bacteria. Nat Rev Microbiol 5(2):107–118. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1595
- Diender M, Stams AJM, Sousa DZ (2015) Pathways and bioenergetics of anaerobic carbon monoxide fermentation. Front Microbiol 6:1–18. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01275
- Drake HL, Gössner AS, Daniel SL (2008) Old acetogens, new light. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1125(1):100–128. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1419.016
- Schuchmann K, Müller V (2014) Autotrophy at the thermodynamic limit of life: a model for energy conservation in acetogenic bacteria. Nat Rev Microbiol 12(12):809–821. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrmicro3365
- 27. Bengelsdorf FR et al (2018) Bacterial anaerobic synthesis gas (syngas) and CO<sub>2</sub> + H<sub>2</sub> fermentation. Adv Appl Microbiol:143–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aambs.2018.01.002
- Sipma J, Henstra AM, Parshina SN, Lens PNL, Lettinga G, Stams AJM (2006) Microbial CO conversions with applications in synthesis gas purification and bio-desulfurization. Crit Rev Biotechnol 26(1):41–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388550500513974
- Sun X, Atiyeh HK, Huhnke RL, Tanner RS (2019) Syngas fermentation process development for production of biofuels and chemicals: a review. Bioresour Technol Rep 7:100279. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biteb.2019.100279
- Wainaina S, Horváth IS, Taherzadeh MJ (2018) Biochemicals from food waste and recalcitrant biomass via syngas fermentation: a review. Bioresour Technol 248(Pt A):113–121. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.06.075
- 31. Gaddy JL, Arora DK, Ko CW, Phillips JR, Basu R, Wikstrom CV, Clausen EC (2007) Methods for increasing the production of ethanol from microbial fermentation. Patent US7285402
- Phillips JR, Klasson KT, Clausen EC, Gaddy JL (1993) Biological production of ethanol from coal synthesis gas. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 39–40(1):559–571. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF02919018
- Katsyv A, Müller V (2020) Overcoming energetic barriers in acetogenic C1 conversion. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:621166. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020.621166
- Humphreys CM, Minton NP (2018) Advances in metabolic engineering in the microbial production of fuels and chemicals from C1 gas. Curr Opin Biotechnol 50:174–181. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2017.12.023
- Joseph RC, Kim NM, Sandoval NR (2018) Recent developments of the synthetic biology toolkit for *Clostridium*. Front Microbiol 9:154. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00154
- 36. Köpke M, Simpson SD (2020) Pollution to products: recycling of "above ground" carbon by gas fermentation. Curr Opin Biotechnol 65:180–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2020. 02.017
- Charubin K, Bennett RK, Fast AG, Papoutsakis ET (2018) Engineering *Clostridium* organisms as microbial cell-factories: challenges & opportunities. Metab Eng 50:173–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2018.07.012
- Couto N, Rouboa A, Silva V, Monteiro E, Bouziane K (2013) Influence of the biomass gasification processes on the final composition of syngas. Energy Procedia 36:596–606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2013.07.068
- Esquivel-Elizondo S, Delgado AG, Rittmann BE, Krajmalnik-Brown R (2017) The effects of CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub> on CO metabolism by pure and mixed microbial cultures. Biotechnol Biofuels 10(1):220. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-017-0910-1
- Xu D, Tree DR, Lewis RS (2011) The effects of syngas impurities on syngas fermentation to liquid fuels. Biomass Bioenergy 35(7):2690–2696. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2011. 03.005
- 41. Cui Y, Yang K-L, Zhou K (2020) Using co-culture to functionalize *Clostridium* fermentation. Trends Biotechnol 39(9):914–926. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2020.11.016
- Diender M, Parera Olm I, Sousa DZ (2021) Synthetic co-cultures: novel avenues for bio-based processes. Curr Opin Biotechnol 67:72–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2021.01.006

- West SA, Diggle SP, Buckling A, Gardner A, Griffin AS (2007) The social lives of microbes. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 38(1):53–77. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.38.091206. 095740
- 44. Zengler K, Zaramela LS (2018) The social network of microorganisms how auxotrophies shape complex communities. Nat Rev Microbiol 16(6):383–390. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41579-018-0004-5
- Bader J, Mast-Gerlach E, Popović MK, Bajpai R, Stahl U (2010) Relevance of microbial coculture fermentations in biotechnology. J Appl Microbiol 109(2):371–387. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2009.04659.x
- 46. Brenner K, You L, Arnold FH (2008) Engineering microbial consortia: a new frontier in synthetic biology. Trends Biotechnol 26(9):483–489. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2008. 05.004
- Johns NI, Blazejewski T, Gomes AL, Wang HH (2016) Principles for designing synthetic microbial communities. Curr Opin Microbiol 31:146–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2016. 03.010
- Lawson CE et al (2019) Common principles and best practices for engineering microbiomes. Nat Rev Microbiol 17(12):725–741. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-019-0255-9
- McCarty NS, Ledesma-Amaro R (2019) Synthetic biology tools to engineer microbial communities for biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol 37(2):181–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tibtech.2018.11.002
- Strous M, Sharp C (2018) Designer microbiomes for environmental, energy and health biotechnology. Curr Opin Microbiol 43:117–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2017.12.007
- 51. Balk M, Mehboob F, van Gelder AH, Rijpstra WIC, Damsté JSS, Stams AJM (2010) (Per)chlorate reduction by an acetogenic bacterium, *Sporomusa* sp., isolated from an underground gas storage. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 88(2):595–603. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-2788-8
- 52. Lee CR et al (2018) Co-culture-based biological carbon monoxide conversion by *Citrobacter amalonaticus* Y19 and *Sporomusa ovata* via a reducing-equivalent transfer mediator. Bioresour Technol 259:128–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.02.129
- Yeol Jung G, Rae Kim J, Ok Jung H, Park J-Y, Park S (1999) A new chemoheterotrophic bacterium catalyzing water-gas shift reaction. Biotechnol Lett 21(10):869–873. https://doi.org/ 10.1023/a:1005599600510
- Morris JJ, Lenski RE, Zinser ER (2012) The Black Queen hypothesis: evolution of dependencies through adaptive gene loss. MBio 3(2):e00036–e00012. https://doi.org/10.1128/ mBio.00036-12
- Ben Said S, Or D (2017) Synthetic microbial ecology: engineering habitats for modular consortia. Front Microbiol 8:1125. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01125
- De Vrieze J, Christiaens MER, Verstraete W (2017) The microbiome as engineering tool: manufacturing and trading between microorganisms. N Biotechnol 39:206–214. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nbt.2017.07.001
- 57. Goers L, Freemont P, Polizzi KM (2014) Co-culture systems and technologies: taking synthetic biology to the next level. J R Soc Interface 11(96):20140065. https://doi.org/10. 1098/rsif.2014.0065
- Baleeiro FCF, Kleinsteuber S, Neumann A, Sträuber H (2019) Syngas-aided anaerobic fermentation for medium-chain carboxylate and alcohol production: the case for microbial communities. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 103(21–22):8689–8709. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00253-019-10086-9
- 59. Asimakopoulos K et al (2020) Temperature effects on syngas biomethanation performed in a trickle bed reactor. Chem Eng J 393:124739. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.124739
- 60. Asimakopoulos K et al (2021) Scale up study of a thermophilic trickle bed reactor performing syngas biomethanation. Appl Energy 290:116771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2021. 116771

- 61. Asimakopoulos K, Grimalt-Alemany A, Lundholm-Høffner C, Gavala HN, Skiadas IV (2021) Carbon sequestration through syngas biomethanation coupled with H<sub>2</sub> supply for a clean production of natural gas grade biomethane. Waste Biomass Valori. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12649-021-01393-2
- 62. Chandolias K, Pekgenc E, Taherzadeh M (2019) Floating membrane bioreactors with high gas hold-up for syngas-to-biomethane conversion. Energies 12(6):1046. https://doi.org/10.3390/ en12061046
- Pereira FM (2014) Intensified bioprocess for the anaerobic conversion of syngas to biofuels. University of Minho. http://hdl.handle.net/1822/34834
- 64. Shen N, Dai K, Xia X-Y, Zeng RJ, Zhang F (2018) Conversion of syngas (CO and H<sub>2</sub>) to biochemicals by mixed culture fermentation in mesophilic and thermophilic hollow-fiber membrane biofilm reactors. J Clean Prod 202:536–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro. 2018.08.162
- 65. He P, Han W, Shao L, Lü F (2018) One-step production of C6–C8 carboxylates by mixed culture solely grown on CO. Biotechnol Biofuels 11(1):4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-017-1005-8
- 66. Wang H-J, Dai K, Wang Y-Q, Wang H-F, Zhang F, Zeng RJ (2018) Mixed culture fermentation of synthesis gas in the microfiltration and ultrafiltration hollow-fiber membrane biofilm reactors. Bioresour Technol 267:650–656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.07.098
- 67. Wang H-J, Dai K, Xia X-Y, Wang Y-Q, Zeng RJ, Zhang F (2018) Tunable production of ethanol and acetate from synthesis gas by mesophilic mixed culture fermentation in a hollow fiber membrane biofilm reactor. J Clean Prod 187:165–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro. 2018.03.193
- Wang P, Wang H, Qiu Y, Ren L, Jiang B (2018) Microbial characteristics in anaerobic digestion process of food waste for methane production – a review. Bioresour Technol 248 (Pt A):29–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.06.152
- Liu K, Atiyeh HK, Stevenson BS, Tanner RS, Wilkins MR, Huhnke RL (2014) Continuous syngas fermentation for the production of ethanol, n-propanol and n-butanol. Bioresour Technol 151:69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.10.059
- Ganigué R, Ramió-Pujol S, Sánchez P, Bañeras L, Colprim J (2015) Conversion of sewage sludge to commodity chemicals via syngas fermentation. Water Sci Technol 72(3):415–420. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2015.222
- 71. Ganigué R, Sánchez-Paredes P, Bañeras L, Colprim J (2016) Low fermentation pH is a trigger to alcohol production, but a killer to chain elongation. Front Microbiol 7:1–11. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00702
- Chakraborty S, Rene ER, Lens PNL, Veiga MC, Kennes C (2019) Enrichment of a solventogenic anaerobic sludge converting carbon monoxide and syngas into acids and alcohols. Bioresour Technol 272:130–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.10.002
- Alves JI, Stams AJM, Plugge CM, Madalena Alves M, Sousa DZ (2013) Enrichment of anaerobic syngas-converting bacteria from thermophilic bioreactor sludge. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 86(3):590–597. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6941.12185
- 74. Arantes AL, Alves JI, Stams AJM, Alves MM, Sousa DZ (2018) Enrichment of syngasconverting communities from a multi-orifice baffled bioreactor. J Microbial Biotechnol 11(4):639–646. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12864
- Esquivel-Elizondo S, Delgado AG, Krajmalnik-Brown R (2017) Evolution of microbial communities growing with carbon monoxide, hydrogen, and carbon dioxide. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 93(6). https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fix076
- 76. Sipma J, Lens PNL, Stams AJM, Lettinga G (2003) Carbon monoxide conversion by anaerobic bioreactor sludges. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 44(2):271–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-6496(03)00033-3
- 77. Guiot SR, Cimpoia R, Carayon G (2011) Potential of wastewater-treating anaerobic granules for biomethanation of synthesis gas. Environ Sci Technol 45(5):2006–2012. https://doi.org/10. 1021/es102728m

- Li C, Zhu X, Angelidaki I (2020) Carbon monoxide conversion and syngas biomethanation mediated by different microbial consortia. Bioresour Technol 314:123739. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2020.123739
- 79. Park S et al (2013) Rapid enrichment of (homo)acetogenic consortia from animal feces using a high mass-transfer gas-lift reactor fed with syngas. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 40(9):995–1003. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-013-1292-4
- Singla A, Verma D, Lal B, Sarma PM (2014) Enrichment and optimization of anaerobic bacterial mixed culture for conversion of syngas to ethanol. Bioresour Technol 172:41–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.08.083
- Tang Y, Huang Y, Gan W, Xia A, Liao Q, Zhu X (2021) Ethanol production from gas fermentation: rapid enrichment and domestication of bacterial community with continuous CO/CO2 gas. Renew Energy 175:337–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2021.04.134
- Xu S, Fu B, Zhang L, Liu H (2015) Bioconversion of H<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub> by acetogen enriched cultures for acetate and ethanol production: the impact of pH. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 31(6):941–950. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-015-1848-8
- Duan H, He P, Shao L, Lü F (2021) Functional genome-centric view of the CO-driven anaerobic microbiome. ISME J. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-021-00983-1
- 84. Grimalt-Alemany A, Łężyk M, Lange L, Skiadas IV, Gavala HN (2018) Enrichment of syngas-converting mixed microbial consortia for ethanol production and thermodynamicsbased design of enrichment strategies. Biotechnol Biofuels 11(1):198. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13068-018-1189-6
- Grimalt-Alemany A, Skiadas IV, Gavala HN (2018) Syngas biomethanation: state-of-the-art review and perspectives. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 12(1):139–158. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bbb.1826
- Adams MWW (1990) The structure and mechanism of iron-hydrogenases. Biochim Biophys Acta 1020(2):115–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2728(90)90044-5
- Chen J-S, Blanchard DK (1978) Isolation and properties of a unidirectional H<sub>2</sub>-oxidizing hydrogenase from the strictly anaerobic N<sub>2</sub>-fixing bacterium *Clostridium pasteurianum* W5. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 84(4):1144–1150. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-291X(78) 91703-5
- Fox JD, Kerby RL, Roberts GP, Ludden PW (1996) Characterization of the CO-induced, CO-tolerant hydrogenase from *Rhodospirillum rubrum* and the gene encoding the large subunit of the enzyme. J Bacteriol 178(6):1515–1524. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.178.6. 1515-1524.1996
- Hess V, Oyrik O, Trifunović D, Müller V (2015) 2,3-Butanediol metabolism in the acetogen Acetobacterium woodii. Appl Environ Microbiol 81(14):4711–4719. https://doi.org/10.1128/ AEM.00960-15
- 90. Kim BH, Bellows P, Datta R, Zeikus JG (1984) Control of carbon and electron flow in *Clostridium acetobutylicum* fermentations: utilization of carbon monoxide to inhibit hydrogen production and to enhance butanol yields. Appl Environ Microbiol 48(4):764–770. https://doi. org/10.1128/AEM.48.4.764-770.1984
- 91. Oswald F et al (2016) Sequential mixed cultures: from syngas to malic acid. Front Microbiol 7: 891. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00891
- 92. Grimalt-Alemany A, Łężyk M, Kennes-Veiga DM, Skiadas IV, Gavala HN (2019) Enrichment of mesophilic and thermophilic mixed microbial consortia for syngas biomethanation: the role of kinetic and thermodynamic competition. Waste Biomass Valori 11(2):465–481. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-019-00595-z
- 93. Sancho Navarro S, Cimpoia R, Bruant G, Guiot SR (2016) Biomethanation of syngas using anaerobic sludge: shift in the catabolic routes with the CO partial pressure increase. Front Microbiol 7:1188. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01188
- Pereira FM, Alves MM, Sousa DZ (2013) Effect of pH and pressure on syngas fermentation by anaerobic mixed cultures. International Water Association. http://hdl.handle.net/1822/26374

- Steinbusch KJJ, Arvaniti E, Hamelers HVM, Buisman CJN (2009) Selective inhibition of methanogenesis to enhance ethanol and n-butyrate production through acetate reduction in mixed culture fermentation. Bioresour Technol 100(13):3261–3267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2009.01.049
- Nam CW, Jung KA, Park JM (2016) Biological carbon monoxide conversion to acetate production by mixed culture. Bioresour Technol 211:478–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2016.03.100
- 97. Luo G, Jing Y, Lin Y, Zhang S, An D (2018) A novel concept for syngas biomethanation by two-stage process: focusing on the selective conversion of syngas to acetate. Sci Total Environ 645:1194–1200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.07.263
- Zinder SH, Anguish T, Cardwell SC (1984) Selective inhibition by 2-bromoethanesulfonate of methanogenesis from acetate in a thermophilic anaerobic digestor. Appl Environ Microbiol 47(6):1343–1345. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.47.6.1343-1345.1984
- 99. Chiu PC, Lee M (2001) 2-Bromoethanesulfonate affects bacteria in a trichloroethenedechlorinating culture. Appl Environ Microbiol 67(5):2371–2374. https://doi.org/10.1128/ AEM.67.5.2371-2374.2001
- 100. Grimalt-Alemany A, Łężyk M, Asimakopoulos K, Skiadas IV, Gavala HN (2020) Cryopreservation and fast recovery of enriched syngas-converting microbial communities. Water Res 177:115747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.115747
- 101. Amani T, Nosrati M, Sreekrishnan TR (2010) Anaerobic digestion from the viewpoint of microbiological, chemical, and operational aspects – a review. Environ Rev 18:255–278. https://doi.org/10.1139/A10-011
- 102. Leng L et al (2018) A review on the bioenergetics of anaerobic microbial metabolism close to the thermodynamic limits and its implications for digestion applications. Bioresour Technol 247:1095–1106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.09.103
- 103. Novaes RFV (1986) Microbiology of anaerobic digestion. Water Sci Technol 18(12):1–14. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.1986.0159
- 104. Gavala HN, Grimalt-Alemany A, Asimakopoulos K, Skiadas IV (2021) Gas biological conversions: the potential of syngas and carbon dioxide as production platforms. Waste Biomass Valori. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-020-01332-7
- 105. Diender M, Uhl PS, Bitter JH, Stams AJMM, Sousa DZ (2018) High rate biomethanation of carbon monoxide-rich gases via a thermophilic synthetic co-culture. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 6(2):2169–2176. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.7b03601
- 106. Daniels L, Fuchs G, Thauer RK, Zeikus JG (1977) Carbon monoxide oxidation by methanogenic bacteria. J Bacteriol 132(1):118–126. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.132.1. 118-126.1977
- 107. O'Brien JM, Wolkin RH, Moench TT, Morgan JB, Zeikus JG (1984) Association of hydrogen metabolism with unitrophic or mixotrophic growth of *Methanosarcina barkeri* on carbon monoxide. J Bacteriol 158(1):373–375. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.158.1.373-375.1984
- 108. Kliefoth M, Langer JD, Matschiavelli N, Oelgeschläger E, Rother M (2012) Genetic analysis of MA4079, an aldehyde dehydrogenase homolog, in *Methanosarcina acetivorans*. Arch Microbiol 194(2):75–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-011-0727-4
- 109. Rother M, Metcalf WW (2004) Anaerobic growth of *Methanosarcina acetivorans* C2A on carbon monoxide: an unusual way of life for a methanogenic archaeon. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101(48):16929–16934. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0407486101
- 110. Diender M, Pereira R, Wessels HJCT, Stams AJM, Sousa DZ (2016) Proteomic analysis of the hydrogen and carbon monoxide metabolism of *Methanothermobacter marburgensis*. Front Microbiol 7:1049. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01049
- 111. Luo G, Wang W, Angelidaki I (2013) Anaerobic digestion for simultaneous sewage sludge treatment and CO biomethanation: process performance and microbial ecology. Environ Sci Technol 47(18):130904143045005. https://doi.org/10.1021/es401018d
- 112. Arantes AL et al (2020) Enrichment of anaerobic syngas-converting communities and isolation of a novel carboxydotrophic Acetobacterium wieringae strain JM. Front Microbiol 11:58. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00058

- 113. Teixeira LV, Moutinho LF, Romão-Dumaresq AS (2018) Gas fermentation of C1 feedstocks: commercialization status and future prospects. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 12(6):1103–1117. https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.1912
- 114. Ueki A, Goto K, Ohtaki Y, Kaku N, Ueki K (2017) Description of Anaerotignum aminivorans gen. nov., sp. nov., a strictly anaerobic, amino-acid-decomposing bacterium isolated from a methanogenic reactor, and reclassification of Clostridium propionicum, Clostridium neopropionicum and Clostridium lactatifermentans. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 67(10):4146–4153. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijsem.0.002268
- 115. Liu K, Atiyeh HK, Stevenson BS, Tanner RS, Wilkins MR, Huhnke RL (2014) Mixed culture syngas fermentation and conversion of carboxylic acids into alcohols. Bioresour Technol 152: 337–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.11.015
- 116. Asimakopoulos K, Gavala HN, Skiadas IV (2018) Reactor systems for syngas fermentation processes: a review. Chem Eng J 348:732–744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.05.003
- 117. Shen Y, Brown R, Wen Z (2014) Syngas fermentation of *Clostridium carboxidivorans* P7 in a hollow fiber membrane biofilm reactor: evaluating the mass transfer coefficient and ethanol production performance. Biochem Eng J 85:21–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2014.01.010
- 118. Martin KJ, Nerenberg R (2012) The membrane biofilm reactor (MBfR) for water and wastewater treatment: principles, applications, and recent developments. Bioresour Technol 122:83–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.02.110
- 119. Back H et al (2016) Achieving long-term stable perovskite solar cells via ion neutralization. Energ Environ Sci 9(4):1258–1263. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6EE00612D
- 120. Zhang F et al (2013) In situ hydrogen utilization for high fraction acetate production in mixed culture hollow-fiber membrane biofilm reactor. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97(23):10233–10240. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-013-5281-3
- Agler MT, Wrenn BA, Zinder SH, Angenent LT (2011) Waste to bioproduct conversion with undefined mixed cultures: the carboxylate platform. Trends Biotechnol 29(2):70–78. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2010.11.006
- 122. Angenent LT et al (2016) Chain elongation with reactor microbiomes: open-culture biotechnology to produce biochemicals. Environ Sci Technol 50(6):2796–2810. https://doi.org/10. 1021/acs.est.5b04847
- 123. Moscoviz R, Trably E, Bernet N, Carrère H (2018) The environmental biorefinery: state-ofthe-art on the production of hydrogen and value-added biomolecules in mixed-culture fermentation. Green Chem 20(14):3159–3179. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8GC00572A
- 124. Spirito CM, Richter H, Rabaey K, Stams AJ, Angenent LT (2014) Chain elongation in anaerobic reactor microbiomes to recover resources from waste. Curr Opin Biotechnol 27: 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2014.01.003
- 125. Candry P, Huang S, Carvajal-Arroyo JM, Rabaey K, Ganigué R (2020) Enrichment and characterisation of ethanol chain elongating communities from natural and engineered environments. Sci Rep 10(1):3682. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-60052-z
- 126. Barker HA, Taha SM (1942) *Clostridium kluyverii*, an organism concerned in the formation of caproic acid from ethyl alcohol. J Bacteriol 43(3):347–363. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.43.3. 347-363.1942
- 127. Weimer PJ, Stevenson DM (2012) Isolation, characterization, and quantification of *Clostrid-ium kluyveri* from the bovine rumen. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 94(2):461–466. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-011-3751-z
- 128. Martin ME, Richter H, Saha S, Angenent LT (2016) Traits of selected *Clostridium* strains for syngas fermentation to ethanol. Biotechnol Bioeng 113(3):531–539. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bit.25827
- 129. Richter H, Molitor B, Diender M, Sousa DZ, Angenent LT (2016) A narrow pH range supports butanol, hexanol, and octanol production from syngas in a continuous so-culture of *Clostridium ljungdahlii* and *Clostridium kluyveri* with in-line product extraction. Front Microbiol 7: 1773. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01773

- 130. Straathof AJJ, Wahl SA, Benjamin KR, Takors R, Wierckx N, Noorman HJ (2019) Grand research challenges for sustainable industrial biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol 37(10):1042–1050. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2019.04.002
- 131. Benito-Vaquerizo S et al (2020) Modeling a co-culture of *Clostridium autoethanogenum* and *Clostridium kluyveri* to increase syngas conversion to medium-chain fatty-acids. Comput Struct Biotechnol J:3255–3266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2020.10.003
- 132. Foster C, Charubin K, Papoutsakis ET, Maranas CD (2021) Modeling growth kinetics, interspecies cell fusion, and metabolism of a *Clostridium acetobutylicum/Clostridium ljungdahlii* syntrophic co-culture. mSystems 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems. 01325-20
- 133. Li X, Henson MA (2019) Metabolic modeling of bacterial co-culture systems predicts enhanced carbon monoxide-to-butyrate conversion compared to monoculture systems. Biochem Eng J 151:107338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2019.107338
- 134. Li X, Henson MA (2021) Dynamic metabolic modeling predicts efficient acetogen-gut bacterium cocultures for CO-to-butyrate conversion. J Appl Microbiol. https://doi.org/10. 1111/jam.15155
- 135. Klasson KT, Cowger JP, Ko CW, Vega JL, Clausen EC, Gaddy JL (1990) Methane production from synthesis gas using a mixed culture of *R. rubrum*, *M. barkeri*, and *M. formicicum*. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 24–25(1):317–328. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02920256
- 136. Kohlmayer M, Huber R, Brotsack R, Mayer W (2018) Simultaneous CO<sub>2</sub> and CO methanation using microbes. bioRxiv:326561. https://doi.org/10.1101/326561
- Diender M, Stams AJM, Sousa DZ (2016) Production of medium-chain fatty acids and higher alcohols by a synthetic co-culture grown on carbon monoxide or syngas. Biotechnol Biofuels 9(1):82. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-016-0495-0
- 138. Diender M et al (2019) Metabolic shift induced by synthetic co-cultivation promotes high yield of chain elongated acids from syngas. Sci Rep:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-54445-y
- 139. Moreira JPC et al (2021) Propionate production from carbon monoxide by synthetic co-cultures of *Acetobacterium wieringae spp.* and propionigenic bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 87(14):e0283920. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02839-20
- 140. Cha S, Lim HG, Kwon S, Kim D, Kang CW, Jung GY (2021) Design of mutualistic microbial consortia for stable conversion of carbon monoxide to value-added chemicals. Metab Eng 64: 146–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2021.02.001
- 141. Westman S, Chandolias K, Taherzadeh M (2016) Syngas biomethanation in a semi-continuous reverse membrane bioreactor (RMBR). Fermentation 2(4):8. https://doi.org/10.3390/ fermentation2020008
- 142. Slepova TV et al (2006) *Carboxydocella sporoproducens* sp. nov., a novel anaerobic CO-utilizing/H<sub>2</sub>-producing thermophilic bacterium from a Kamchatka hot spring. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 56(4):797–800. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.63961-0
- 143. Sokolova TG (2002) Carboxydocella thermautotrophica gen. nov., sp. nov., a novel anaerobic, CO-utilizing thermophile from a Kamchatkan hot spring. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 52(6):1961–1967. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.02173-0
- 144. Phillips JR et al (2015) Butanol and hexanol production in *Clostridium carboxidivorans* syngas fermentation: medium development and culture techniques. Bioresour Technol 190: 114–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.04.043
- 145. Chang IS, Kim BH, Lovitt RW, Bang JS (2001) Effect of CO partial pressure on cell-recycled continuous CO fermentation by *Eubacterium limosum* KIST612. Process Biochem 37(4):411–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0032-9592(01)00227-8
- 146. Valgepea K et al (2018) H<sub>2</sub> drives metabolic rearrangements in gas-fermenting *Clostridium autoethanogenum*. Biotechnol Biofuels 11(1):55. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-018-1052-9
- 147. Haas T, Krause R, Weber R, Demler M, Schmid G (2018) Technical photosynthesis involving CO<sub>2</sub> electrolysis and fermentation. Nat Catal 1(1):32–39. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41929-017-0005-1

- 148. Kim SA, Rhee MS (2013) Marked synergistic bactericidal effects and mode of action of medium-chain fatty acids in combination with organic acids against *Escherichia coli* O157: H7. Appl Environ Microbiol 79(21):6552–6560. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02164-13
- 149. Piwowarek K, Lipińska E, Hać-Szymańczuk E, Kieliszek M, Ścibisz I (2018) Propionibacterium spp. – source of propionic acid, vitamin B12, and other metabolites important for the industry. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 102(2):515–538. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00253-017-8616-7
- 150. Tholozan JL, Touzel JP, Samain E, Grivet JP, Prensier G, Albagnac G (1992) Clostridium neopropionicum sp. nov., a strict anaerobic bacterium fermenting ethanol to propionate through acrylate pathway. Arch Microbiol 157(3):249–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00245158
- 151. Hu P et al (2016) Integrated bioprocess for conversion of gaseous substrates to liquids. Proc Natl Acad Sci 113(14):3773–3778. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1516867113
- 152. Hwang HW et al (2020) Two-stage bioconversion of carbon monoxide to biopolymers via formate as an intermediate. Chem Eng J 389:124394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020. 124394
- 153. Lagoa-Costa B, Abubackar HN, Fernández-Romasanta M, Kennes C, Veiga MC (2017) Integrated bioconversion of syngas into bioethanol and biopolymers. Bioresour Technol 239:244–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.019
- 154. Sorokin DY et al (2020) Natranaerofaba carboxydovora gen. nov., sp. nov., an extremely haloalkaliphilic CO -utilizing acetogen from a hypersaline soda lake representing a novel deep phylogenetic lineage in the class "Natranaerobiia". Environ Microbiol 23(7):3460–3476 https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.15241
- 155. Hanemaaijer M, Olivier BG, Röling WFM, Bruggeman FJ, Teusink B (2017) Model-based quantification of metabolic interactions from dynamic microbial-community data. PLoS One 12(3):e0173183. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173183
- 156. Pacheco AR, Moel M, Segrè D (2019) Costless metabolic secretions as drivers of interspecies interactions in microbial ecosystems. Nat Commun 10(1):103. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-018-07946-9
- 157. Stolyar S et al (2007) Metabolic modeling of a mutualistic microbial community. Mol Syst Biol 3(1):92. https://doi.org/10.1038/msb4100131
- 158. Gu C, Kim GB, Kim WJ, Kim HU, Lee SY (2019) Current status and applications of genomescale metabolic models. Genome Biol 20(1):121. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-019-1730-3
- 159. Wen Z et al (2017) Enhanced solvent production by metabolic engineering of a twin-clostridial consortium. Metab Eng 39:38–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2016.10.013
- 160. Wen Z, Wu M, Lin Y, Yang L, Lin J, Cen P (2014) Artificial symbiosis for acetone-butanolethanol (ABE) fermentation from alkali extracted deshelled corn cobs by co-culture of *Clostridium beijerinckii* and *Clostridium cellulovorans*. Microb Cell Fact 13(1):92. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12934-014-0092-5
- 161. Zhang H, Li Z, Pereira B, Stephanopoulos G (2015) Engineering *E. coli E. coli* cocultures for production of muconic acid from glycerol. Microb Cell Fact 14(1):134. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12934-015-0319-0
- 162. Liao MJ, Din MO, Tsimring L, Hasty J (2019) Rock-paper-scissors: engineered population dynamics increase genetic stability. Science 365(6457):1045–1049. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.aaw0542
- 163. Carlson ED, Papoutsakis ET (2017) Heterologous expression of the *Clostridium carboxidivorans* CO dehydrogenase alone or together with the acetyl coenzyme a synthase enables both reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> and oxidation of CO by *Clostridium acetobutylicum*. Appl Environ Microbiol 83(16). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00829-17
- 164. Gleizer S et al (2019) Conversion of *Escherichia coli* to generate all biomass carbon from CO<sub>2</sub>. Cell 179(6):1255–1263.e12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.11.009
- 165. Kim S et al (2020) Growth of *E. coli* on formate and methanol via the reductive glycine pathway. Nat Chem Biol 16(5):538–545. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-020-0473-5